
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
 
 

Note: Detailed Information on current Agenda Items can be found at the City of Clarkston Website Agenda page.    

http://www.clarkstonga.gov/index.php/city-your-government/agendas-minutes 

Robin Gomez – City Manager 

   
 

 

      

  

AGENDA  Tuesday, January 29,  2019 7:00PM 
 

A. ROLL CALL  

 

B. WORK SESSION - RESIDENT COMMENT POLICY  

Any member of the public may address questions or comments to the Council referencing only agenda items after the 

Mayor and council have had the opportunity to discuss the agenda item. Each Attendee will be allowed 3 minutes for 

comments at the discretion of the Presiding Officer. Attendees will be asked to conclude their comments in a reasonable 

time period if they exceed the 3 minute limit. 

                      

C. PRESENTATION/ ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS 

 

D. OLD BUSINESS 

D1)  Discuss Adopting a Non-Discrimination Ordinance 

D2)  Discuss Amending Zoning Ordinance to allow automobile sales as a conditional use in NC-2 

D3) Discuss Amending Chapter 3 of the Code regarding Alcohol to Allow “Late Night Sales” for Consumption on 

Premises 

 

E. NEW BUSINESS 

E1) PUBLIC HEARING: Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the Southern 

Baptist Convention, Incorporated with Clarkston International Bible Church is submitting a site development plan 

for a proposed Planned Unit Development (PUD) consisting of nine (9) parcels  located at  3895 Church Street-

Parcel 18 096 16 003, 3865 Church Street, 18 096 06 006, 3871 Church Street, 18 096 16 005, 993 Rowland Street-

18 096 15 005, 1011 Rowland Street-18 096 15 004, 1001 Rowland Street-18 096 15 006, 966 Rowland Street-18 

096 16 008, 954 Rowland Street-18 096 16 010, 960 Rowland Street-18 096 16 009 Clarkston, GA 30021. If 

approved the PUD will include multifamily housing, new parking areas, and an activity center.  

 

E2) PUBLIC HEARING: Rezoning request from Christopher Malone to rezone the property located at 3723 Debelle 

Street-Clarkston, GA  30021, parcel 18 067 03 001 from NR-1 Low Density Neighborhood Residential to NR-2 

Medium Density Residential. If approved the applicant will subdivide the property into two (2) lots to construct a new 

1484 SF single family home on the vacant lot.  

 

E3) PUBLIC HEARING: Variance request from Christopher Malone to vary from Section 702 NR-2 Medium Density 

Neighborhood Residential (f) Bulk and area regulations of minimum lot size of 7500 sq. ft. to allow the minimum lot 

size to be 7202 sq. ft. per lot. 

 

E4)  Adopt Required Stormwater Ordinances and Regulations: Georgia Erosion & Sedimentation Act, 

Enforcement Response Plan and   Green Infrastructure / Low Impact Development Program. 

 

E5) Adopt the 2018 International Property Maintenance Code  

 

E6) Discuss Membership to National League of Cities 

 

 

F. ADJOURNMENT  

 

Ted Terry – Mayor 
YT Bell   Awet Eyasu                                       
Andrea Cervone  Ahmed Hassan 
Jamie Carroll               Mario Williams 
 

http://www.clarkstonga.gov/index.php/city-your-government/agendas-minutes


 

ARTICLE XVIII. - DISCRIMINATION

Sec. 6-1001. – Definitions.  

For purposes of this article, certain terms shall be interpreted or defined as follows unless the context 
clearly indicates otherwise.  

(a) Business means any person or entity conducting business within the City, which is required to 
obtain a license or permit. For purposes of this article, no department of any government agency 
shall be considered to be a business (notwithstanding licensure by the City).  

(b) Place of public accommodation means any place, store, or other establishment, that supplies 
accommodations, good or services to the general public, or that solicits or accepts the patronage or 
trade to the general public, or that is supported directly or indirectly by government funds. The term 
does not include any private club, bona fide membership organization, or other establishment that 
is not in fact open to the public.    

(c) Rental housing means any real property which is required to obtain a license or permit by the City 
of Doraville. 

(d) To rent means to lease, to sublease, to let and otherwise to grant for a consideration the right to 
occupy premises not owned by the occupant.  

(e) Employee means any person employed by or seeking employment from any business within the 
City of Doraville. Employee does not include any individual employed by such individual's parents, 
spouse or child or in the domestic service of any person.  

(f) Person means an individual, corporation, partnership, association, labor organization, legal 
representative, mutual company, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, trustee, 
trustee in bankruptcy, receiver and fiduciary.  

(g) Familial status means persons 18 years of age or older who are spouses, former spouses, parents 
or stepparents and children or stepchildren, and persons who are presently residing together or 
have resided together in the past, and persons who have a child in common regardless of whether 
they have been married or have lived together at any time.  

(h) Sexual orientation means an individual's actual or perceived orientation as heterosexual, 
homosexual, bisexual or asexual.  

(i) Gender identity means the actual or perceived gender-related identity, expression, appearance, 
mannerisms, or other gender related characteristics, regardless of the individuals designated sex at 
birth.   

(j) Military status means a person who is serving or has served in the uniformed services, and who, 
was discharged or released under conditions other than dishonorable, as specified in 38 U.S.C. 
101(2), or amendments thereto. Uniformed services is defined as set forth in 20 C.F.R. 1002.5(o), 
or amendments thereto.  

 (k) Hearing officer means a person chosen as described in Sec 2104, who is charged with determining 
the validity of alleged violations of this article, and upon determining that a violation has occurred, 
assessing appropriate damages, penalties and/or costs as provided in this article.  

(l) Mediator means a state registered mediator, who shall be chosen by the City to perform the duties 
described in Sec 6-1003. 

(m) Religious organization means an entity which: Conducts regular worship services; or Is qualified as 
a religious organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as now or 
hereafter amended, that is not required to file IRS Form 990, Return of Organization Exempt From 
Income Tax, under any circumstances. 

 

 



 

Sec. 6-1002. – Unlawful Practices.  

(a) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for a business, because of the race, religion, color, 
sex, disability, national origin, ancestry, sexual orientation, gender identity or military status of any 
person to refuse to hire or employ such person to bar or discharge such person from employment 
or to otherwise discriminate against such person in compensation or in terms, conditions or 
privileges of employment; to limit, segregate, separate, classify or make any distinction in regards 
to employees; or to follow any employment procedure or practice which, in fact, results in 
discrimination, segregation or separation.  

(b) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for a business to discriminate against any person in 
the terms, conditions or privileges of sale or rental of real property or rental housing, or in the 
provision of services or facilities in connection therewith, because of race, religion, color, sex, 
disability, familial status, national origin, ancestry, sexual orientation, gender identity or military 
status, or to discriminate against any person in such person's use or occupancy of rental housing 
because of the race, religion, color, sex, disability, familial status, national origin ancestry, sexual 
orientation, gender identity, or military status of the people with whom such person associates.  

(c) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice for any business, as defined herein being the owner, 
operator, lessee, manager, agent or employee of any place of public accommodation, to refuse, 
deny or make a distinction, directly or indirectly, in offering its goods, services, facilities, and 
accommodations to any person as covered by this article because of race, religion, color, sex, 
disability, national origin, ancestry, sexual orientation, gender identity, or military status. 
Notwithstanding the above, nothing in this article shall be construed to prevent any business as 
defined in this article from offering, affording or providing any additional benefit or additional 
discount to a person because of such person's military status.  

(d) Nothing in this article shall be construed to mean that a business shall be forced to hire unqualified 
or incompetent personnel, or discharge qualified or competent personnel.  

(e) Nothing in this article shall prohibit an employer from requiring an employee, during the employee's 
hours at work, to adhere to reasonable and equitable dress or grooming standards not prohibited by 
other provisions of Federal, State, or local law, provided that all employees are permitted to dress in 
a manner consistent with their gender identity.  

(f) Nothing in this article shall prohibit a religious organization to employ an individual of a particular 
religion to perform work connected with the performance of religious activities by the religious 
organization. Nor shall this article prohibit a religious organization from limiting its non-commercial 
accommodations, advantages, facilities, membership, and privileges to persons of the same 
religion. 

(g) Nothing in this article shall prohibit a nonprofit private club in fact not open to the public, which as 
an incident to its primary purpose or purposes provides lodgings which it owns or operates for other 
than a commercial purpose, from limiting the rental or occupancy of such lodgings to its members 
or from giving preference to its members.  

(h) Nothing in this article shall be construed to require any entity subject to this article to make changes 
requiring a building permit to any existing facility, except as otherwise required by law.  

 

Sec. 6-1003. – Enforcement.  

(a)  Any person aggrieved by a potential violation of this article may file a complaint with the City Clerk 
on a form to be provided by the City. The aggrieved person’s full name shall be written on the 
subject complaint. Any such complaint must be filed within 90 days after the alleged act of 
discrimination. A filing fee of $50.00 shall be paid by the Complainant contemporaneously with the 
filing of all discrimination complaints, however, Complainant shall receive a refund of the filing fee if 
the Complaint survives the dismissal provisions of Sec 6-1005(c).  

 



 

(b) The City Clerk shall cause the complaint to be served on the person charged with a violation as 
soon as practicable but in no event later than seven (7) calendar days after receipt of a verified 
complaint. Service may be by personal service, by certified mail, return receipt requested or by 
statutory overnight delivery. 

• The City Clerk shall cause a copy of the complaint to be served upon all City Council 
Members within forty-eight hours after receipt of a verified complaint. A copy shall be 
furnished by electronic mail to the Council Members government e-mail address. A copy 
of the verified complaint shall also be placed in each Council Member’s designated 
mailbox. 

• All verified Complaints shall be announced by the City Manager at the City Council 
meeting that immediately follows the date of the verified complaint. 

• All verified complaints, along with all associated penalties and recorded decisions, shall 
are public records subject to the Georgia Open Records Act 

• All hearing held pursuant to a verified complaint shall be open to the public and shall be 
recorded by video. 

(c) The complaint shall first be referred to a mediator for non-binding mediation. Participation in 
mediation shall be voluntary for both parties. The mediator shall be a person, selected from a list 
provided by the City, to serve as the mediator. Any fees charged by the mediator shall be split 
equally between the parties, unless at the conclusion of the mediation, both parties agree to assess 
these costs of mediation in some other manner.  

(d) Any mediation hereunder shall be conducted in accordance with procedures to be established by 
the mediator.  

(e) If, within 15 days of the conclusion of the mediation, either party notifies the City Clerk in writing that 
such person is dissatisfied with the results of the mediation, or if either party elects not to participate 
in mediation, the complaint shall be referred to a Hearing Officer as per Sec 6-1004.  

• Also, all businesses must agree to provide a copy of this Ordinance to their respective 
employees, within 60 days of obtaining their business license from the City of Clarkston. 
Regarding current businesses, whose license has already been obtained at the time that 
this Ordinance becomes effective, those businesses shall provide a copy of this 
Ordinance to their respective employees within 90 days of the Ordinance’s effective 
date. The City manager shall send a notice regarding this requirement to all affected 
businesses (as of the day this Ordinance becomes effective) within seven days of the 
Ordinances effective date. 

 

Sec. 6-1004 – Appointment of Hearing Officer, Service of Complaint, Burden of Proof; Introduction of 
Evidence 

(a) All complaints not resolved by mediation shall be heard before a Hearing Officer who: (i) shall be a 
competent attorney at law of good standing in his or her profession, (ii) shall have at least five (5) 
years' experience in the practice of law in the area of constitutional and employment discrimination, 
and (iii) shall not maintain an office within a ten (10) mile radius of the City of Doraville, Georgia. 
The City Clerk shall maintain a listing of no less than five (5) qualified attorneys, who must be 



 

licensed to practice law in the state of Georgia, to serve as a Hearing Officer pursuant to this 
section.  Upon receipt of the letter of dissatisfaction with the results of the mediation, or if either 
party elects not to participate in mediation, the City Clerk shall draw names randomly from the 
listing of qualified Hearing Officers and appoint the first one who is available to serve in the matter. 

(b) In all hearing officer proceedings under this section, the burden of proof shall be on the complaining 
party. Further, the quantum of proof required to establish a violation under this Ordinance shall be 
based on a preponderance of the evidence. 

• In all hearing officer proceeding hearsay evidence shall be admissible, and if the hearing 
officer discredits hearsay evidence or otherwise excludes said evidence, the decision to do 
so must be explained, in writing, as part of the hearing officer’s decision regarding the 
verified complaint. 

• No judicial rules of evidence, including the Georgia Rules of Evidence for Civil Procedure 
and the Georgia Administrative Procedures Act, apply to any portion of a verified complaint, 
to include the actual hearing regarding the Complaint. 

• A Complainant may call a witness by submitting a request to the Hearing Officer while also 
explaining the importance of the witness. If it is alleged that the witness saw or heard 
matters at issue in the verified complaint, then the hearing officer shall subpoena the 
witness to show up at the hearing about the complaint. The Complainant’s request must be 
made at least ten days prior to a scheduled hearing date. 

 

Sec. 6-1005. – Hearing. 

(a) The person violator charged in the Complaint shall have fifteen (15) days to file an answer to the 
complaint provided, however, the alleged violator charged shall have no obligation to file an answer 
to any complaint. 

(b) Upon the expiration of the fifteen (15) day answer period, the Hearing Officer shall review the 
complaint and answer, if any, to determine: (i) whether the complaint is in conformity of the 
requirements of Sec 6-1003 above, (ii) whether upon consideration of the complaint and answer, 
the complaint is unjustified, frivolous, or patently unfounded, or (iii) whether upon consideration of 
the complaint and answer, the complaint demonstrates facts sufficient to invoke disciplinary 
jurisdiction as set forth in this Ordinance.  

(c) If the complaint fails based upon the requirements of the foregoing subsection (b), the Hearing 
Office must state the reasons for said dismissal in writing, and the City Council must approve of the 
dismissal by majority vote per City Council Rules as to hat constitutes a majority vote. 

• Once a verified Complaint is dismissed, the Complainant may appeal the dismissal to the 
City of Clarkston Municipal Court. 

(d) Upon a determination that the complaint should not be dismissed pursuant to the foregoing 
subsection (c), the Hearing Officer shall be empowered to collect evidence and information 
concerning any complaint and to add the findings and results of its investigations to the file 
containing such complaint. In furtherance of this investigation, the Hearing Officer may: 



 

(i) Seek such further information from the complainant or the alleged violator charged through 
inquiry or written questions, provided, however the alleged violator shall have no obligation to 
answer any inquiries, or  

(ii) Conduct a hearing regarding the allegations set forth in the complaint. At any hearing, the 
alleged violator who is the subject of inquiry shall have the right: (i) to representation by counsel 
at all stages of these proceedings, (ii) to written notice of the hearing at least ten (10) calendar 
days before the first hearing, (iii) to hear and examine the evidence and witnesses, (iv) to not 
testify, and (v) to submit evidence and call witnesses to oppose or mitigate the allegations.  

• Once a hearing is set, to adjudge a verified complaint, the Complainant is entitled to 
representation by the City of Clarkston’s public defender. After a hearing date is set, the 
Complaint must request representation by the City of Clarkston’s public defender no less 
than two weeks prior to the hearing date. The Public Defender may seek a continuance of 
the hearing date, and such request shall be freely granted, generally. 

(e) All investigations under this section shall be completed within thirty (30) days of: receipt of the 
alleged violator’s response or the expiration of the 15-day answer period. Should the investigation 
not be completed in said period, the complaint will be deemed dismissed as a failure to state facts 
sufficient to invoke the disciplinary jurisdiction of the City of Clarkston. 
 

(f) Within seven (7) days of the completion of the investigation, to include a hearing, the Hearing 
Officer shall either: 

 

(i) Dismiss the complaint on the grounds that it is unjustified, frivolous, patently unfounded, or 
that it fails to state facts sufficient to invoke the disciplinary jurisdiction of the City of Doraville, 
or 
  

(ii) Finds that a violation of this article has occurred, and thus the Hearing Officer may apply the 
following penalties: a civil penalty in an amount up to $1,000.00 for each violation; 
community service hours not to exceed eighty hours; revocation of the violator’s Clarkston-
issued business license; and/or sensitivity training not to exceed 80 hours in total for all 
employees, but no less than 40 hours. If the Hearing Officer finds that the violator’s business 
license should be revoked, the Hearing Officer must make a recommendation to the City 
Council and thereafter, the City Council must vote to revoke the licenses. The City Council’s 
vote must take place within 30 days of the Hearing Officer’s recommendation. 

 
• The Hearing officer shall provide the City Manager with a copy of all decisions within forty-

eight hours of making said decisions. 
  

(g)  In addition, the Mediator’s fees and the Hearing Officer's fees shall be assessed to the non-
prevailing party unless the Hearing Officer determines that the circumstances warrant assessing 
the costs in some other manner. 

(h) The Hearing Officer must submit all documents and information related to all verified complaints 
to the City Manager, to be placed on file, within 48 hours of receiving said documents and 
information. In the case of written decision made by the Hearing Officer, a copy those decisions 
must be provided to all City Council Members by the City Manager within 48 hours of the City 
Manager receiving said decisions. 

 

Sec. 6-1006. – Right To Appeal. 



 

(a) Any party adversely affected by the final decision regarding a verified Complaint may appeal the 
final order to Clarkston Municipal Court. The party choosing to appeal must do so within fourteen 
days of the adverse decision. In the case that a decision by the hearing officer must be voted on by 
the City Council, the decision is not final until the City Council has undertaken said vote.  

 

 







 
 

  
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 29, 2019 
 
 
SUBJECT: Myrick Gurosky and Associates for the North American Mission Board of the Southern 
Baptist Convention, Incorporated with the Clarkston International Bible Church have submitted 
a planned unit development (PUD) request that will include multifamily housing, parking areas, 
and an activity center of the properties located at 3895 Church St., 3865 Church St., 3871 Church 
St., 993 Rowland St., 1011 Rowland St., 1001 Rowland St., 966 Rowland St., 954 Rowland St., and 
960 Rowland St.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
PURPOSE: The Mayor and City Council shall review the PUD submittal for acceptance and 
determine whether or not to move forward with a public hearing. If it is determined, by the 
mayor and city council, after review of the proposed application and materials for the PUD, that 
it is deemed acceptable, Council may move forward into a public hearing to. 

 
NEED/ IMPACT:  The applicants have s submitted an application and development plans to be 
reviewed as a mixed use planned unit development (PUD). Currently three (3) parcels are zoned 
NR-1 Low Density Neighborhood Residential and six (6) parcels are zoned NC-1 Neighborhood 
Commercial. The request is for approval of a mixed use planned unit development that will 
consist of multifamily housing, new parking areas and an activity center.  The requested PUD 
review is permitted within the zoning classifications of NC-1.    
 
A mixed use development incorporates a minimum of forty thousand (40,000) square feet on 
multiple parcels which has design and development features that would not be possible by the 
application of lot by lot zoning districts regulations.  A PUD is a provision that allows more 
flexibility to development projects that incorporate two (2) or more buildings on a tract or over 
several tracts of land than would otherwise be allowed by the underlying zoning district 
regulations.  According to Section 901 of the Zoning Ordinance, the purpose of planned unit 
developments are to encourage the best possible site plans and building arrangements under a 
unified plan of development rather than on a lot by lot basis. The developer benefits from better 
land utilization, economy in the provision of road and utilities and flexibility in design.  The City 

ITEM NO: E1 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 

HEARING TYPE:  
 Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: 
Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENTS:  YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES     NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy, Planning and Dev. Director 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



 
 

  
 

gains the advantages of variety in building types compatibility of uses and optimum community 
development.  A review of the PUD plans by the City provides an opportunity to assure that the 
development will be in harmony with the character of the neighborhood.  A PUD provides 
unified approaches to the development of land that provides for a simplified process of enabling 
development which would otherwise require numerous applications for variations from the 
provisions of the zoning code and provide for the development of stable environments that are 
compatible with surrounding areas of the community. It also ensures the provisions of open 
space, parks and recreation land and facilities for the use of the occupants of the development.  

 
The PUD requests were reviewed at the November 20, 2018 Planning and Zoning Board meeting.  
The Planning and Zoning Board voted to defer/postpone a decision and requested a traffic impact 
study from the applicant to be submitted at the next Board meeting (January 22, 2019).  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff Analysis Attached 
Staff recommended conditional approval of the Planned Unit Development with conditions. 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATIONS: (12.18.18 and 01.22.19 meeting minutes 
attached) 
Based on the December 18, 2018, planning and zoning Board public hearing meeting, the Board 
recommended to defer/postpone a decision on the PUD submittal until the applicant can submit 
a requested traffic impact study.  
 
Based on the January 22, 2019, planning and zoning Board public hearing meeting, the Board 
recommended to approve the PUD submittal with conditions.  



PUD-18-01 
 

 
 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) ANALYSIS 
  

      
Report Prepared by: Shawanna N. Qawiy, MPA, MSCM 

 Planning & Development Director 
 
Applicant: Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the 

Southern Baptist Convention Inc. w/Clarkston International Bible Church 
 
Location:   3895 Church St.| 3865 Church St.| 3871 Church St. |  
 993 Rowland St. | 1011 Rowland St. | 1001 Rowland St. | 966 Rowland St. 
 954 Rowland St.| 960 Rowland St.  
 
Request:   A planned unit development that will include multifamily housing, new    

parking areas, and an activity center. 
 
Parcel ID(s):      18 096 16 003 | 18 096 06 006 | 18 096 16 005 | 
          18 096 15 005 | 18 096 15 004 | 18 096 15 006 | 18 096 16 008 
                                    18 096 16 010 | 18 096 16 009   
    
Current Land Use:  The properties currently has a renovated place of assembly, parking areas, 

vacant building (soon to be demolished) of the Clarkston International Bible 
Church, vacant lots. 

 
Sign Posted:  December 3, 2018 
 
Planning & Zoning Meeting: December 18, 2018; 7PM 

DEFFERED until January 22, 2019  
 
City Council Meeting:  January 3, 2019; 7PM 
     DEFFERED until February 5, 2019 
 
Lot Size:   4.45 acres 
 
Road Access:   Church Street, Rogers Street and Rowland Street 
 
 
Public Utilities:  
Water and Wastewater Treatment –.  All planned developments are required to connect to county 
water and sewer services.  Public water service connections are available on this property. If 
additional public sewer service is warranted it will be made available via line extensions at the 
developer’s/property owner’s expense. This will be confirmed during the required permitting 
review process.  
 
Zoning Overview: Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the 
Southern Baptist Convention Inc., with Clarkston International Bible Church has submitted an 
application and development plans to be reviewed as a mixed use planned unit development 



City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention Inc. 
w/Clarkston International Bible Church 
P&Z Committee Meeting: December 18, 2018 
City Council Meeting: January 3, 2019                                                                                                            Page 2 

NAMB PUD SUBMITTAL 2018 
 

(PUD). Currently three (3) parcels are zoned NR-1 Low Density Neighborhood Residential and 
six (6) parcels are zoned NC-1 Neighborhood Commercial. The request is for approval of a mixed 
use planned unit development that will consist of multifamily housing, new parking areas and an 
activity center.  The requested PUD review is permitted within the zoning classifications of  

NC-1.    
 
A Planned unit developments (PUD) a provision that allows more flexibility to development 
projects that incorporate two (2) or more buildings on a tract or over several tracts of land than 
would otherwise be allowed by the underlying zoning district regulations.  According to Section 
901 of the Zoning Ordinance, the purpose of planned unit developments are to encourage the best 
possible site plans and building arrangements under a unified plan of development rather than on 
a lot by lot basis. The developer benefits from better land utilization, economy in the provision of 
road and utilities and flexibility in design.  The City gains the advantages of variety in building 
types compatibility of uses and optimum community development.  A review of the PUD plans by 
the City provides an opportunity to assure that the development will be in harmony with the 
character of the neighborhood.  A PUD provides unified approaches to the development of land 
that provides for a simplified process of enabling development which would otherwise require 
numerous applications for variations from the provisions of the zoning code and provide for the 
development of stable environments that are compatible with surrounding areas of the community. 
It also ensures the provisions of open space, parks and recreation land and facilities for the use of 
the occupants of the development.  
 

Based on the submission of the information and documents from the applicants with multifamily 
housing, and a multipurpose building that will be occupied with retail, offices and restaurants the 
development will be a mixed use development.  A mixed use development incorporates a minimum 
of forty thousand (40,000) square feet on multiple parcels which has design and development 
features that would not be possible by the application of lot by lot zoning districts regulations.  Site 
planning in the proposed PUD mixed use development will consider topography and will be 
compatible with the topography of the land and is encouraged to preserve any unusual and valuable 
natural features.  The proposed mixed use PUD shall not adversely affect developed or undeveloped 
neighboring properties and shall consider the location of structures screening, setbacks and street 
design in the evaluation of relationship of the development to its surrounding areas.  
 
The location of the proposed buildings 100 and 200 will be the site for the multifamily housing 
development (954/960 Rowland St.) It meets the setback requirements as outlined in the Ordinance 
for front yard setback of 10’, the side setback of none, since it does not abut a single family 
residential district, and rear setback of 10’ when not abutting a single family residential district. 
Building 300 as known as 3865 Church Street, the Christian Life Center has an approved certificate 
of occupancy and meets the zoning districts applicable setback requirement of the buildings 100 
and 200.  Buildings 400 and 500 will be located at 3895 Church Street. The front of buildings 400 
and 500 will face towards the proposed commons space. The side of the proposed buildings will 
meet the zoning district buffer requirements since the development will not face the street.  From 
review, building 400 appears to be close to the side setback line, which according to the zoning 
ordinance regulations for NC-1, has a side setback of none, since it does not abut single family 
residential.   
 
 



City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention Inc. 
w/Clarkston International Bible Church 
P&Z Committee Meeting: December 18, 2018 
City Council Meeting: January 3, 2019                                                                                                            Page 3 

NAMB PUD SUBMITTAL 2018 
 

 
 
Transportation Facilities:   
The development will have access from Rogers Street, Rowland Street, and Church Street. The 
streets have functional classifications as Local Roads. On local roads local traffic gain access to a 
property.  Indian Creek Drive and East Ponce de Leon Avenue have functional classification of 
Minor Arterial Roads. Minor arterials are high-capacity urban roads. The primary function of an 
arterial road is to deliver traffic from collector roads to freeways or expressways, and between 
urban centers at the highest level of service possible. 
 
Service and emergency vehicles shall have adequate access for firefighting and other emergency 
equipment service deliveries and refuse collections. The final review will be conducted during the 
permitting process by DeKalb County.  
  
The applicant is required to show acceptable design and construction of storm sewer and/or storm 
water retention facilities.  The proposed mixed use PUD plans north of the Rowland Street 
(buildings 100-500) and also for the parking lot reconstruction south of Rowland Street is 
proposing three (3) drainage basins. The two (2) basins north of Rowland Street will discharge 
into the existing city storm system at the southwest corner of the site. The basin south of Rowland 
Street will discharge into the existing city storm system at the northeast corner of the site.  The 
two (2) basins that the applicant is proposing north of Rowland Street will utilize a separate 
underground detention system and water quality treatment unit to meet the storm water quality 
standards.  The proposed basin south of Rowland Street will utilize water quality treatment units 
to meet the storm water quality standards per the Georgia Stormwater Management Manual.   The 
final approval of the proposed storm sewer and stormwater retention facilities will be confirmed 
during the required permitting review process with the City and DeKalb County.  
 
The maximum density for this proposed mixed use PUD will not exceed the density requirements 
of the NC-1 zoning district.   The maximum density of building coverage in the NC-1 zoning 
district is 80 % (155,535.2 sq. ft.). With a combined total site square footage of 194,419, the 
building density is 54,685 square feet for all buildings (100-500). The building density requirement 
has been met. Table 1.1 shows the square footage of each building.  
 
The yards along the exterior boundaries of the proposed mixed use development shall not be less 
than five (5) feet in width. Each building has a 10’ setback from the property lines facing Rowland 
Street and Church Street. The buffer requirements for the NC-1 zoning district is that when a use 
within the NC-1 district directly abuts the NR-1, NR-2, or NR-3 district a 30 foot landscape buffer 
shall be required. The proposed mixed use PUD does not directly abut the aforementioned zoning 
districts. 
 
The common open space requirements for the underlying zoning district of NC-1 is 20% of the 
development.  Since the properties located at 993, 1001 and 1011 Rowland Street will be a 
grandfathered use for Christian Life Center and the development.  The proposed open space 
calculations have included these properties.  The open space requirement has been met.   
 
 



City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention Inc. 
w/Clarkston International Bible Church 
P&Z Committee Meeting: December 18, 2018 
City Council Meeting: January 3, 2019                                                                                                            Page 4 

NAMB PUD SUBMITTAL 2018 
 

 
 
 
Table 1.0 illustrates the proposed open space for the PUD  
Table 1.0  

 
Property Address 

 
Lot 

Square footage  
+/- 

 
Open space square 

footage 
Per lot 

  
Total % Open Space 

for the PUD 

954 Rowland St. 13,977.55 10,654.69  
960 Rowland St 14,449.23 7, 289.27  
966 Rowland St. 14,717.26 2,096.79  
3865 Church St 34,358.41 8,268.59  
3871 Church St. 15,770.71 4,670.28  
3895 Church St. 39,581.77 26,117.946  
993 Rowland St 20,121.09 5,199.62  

1001 Rowland St 20,213.07 3,567.87  
1011 Rowland St 20,503.10 4,725.49  

 193,626.19 75,593.546 39% 
 
Table 2.0 Illustrates the zoning and current land uses for the adjacent properties: 
Table 2.0 

        Current Zoning Current Land Use 
North NC-1 Current Place of Assembly 

East     NR-1  Parking  

South NR-1 Parking 

West    NC-1 Vacant Lots 

   Table 3.0 Illustrates the parcel addresses and the proposed PUD land use with building heights:        
   Table 3.0 
Sq. Ft.          Current Address      Proposed Land Use        Building Height 

15,259 
13,379 

954 Rowland Street 
960 Rowland Street 

Multifamily housing 
 Building 100= 3,438 sq. ft.  
Building 200= 3,438 sq. ft.  

Lots will be submitted for lot combination. 
24% building density 

 

Building 100 
 24’-10”  

 (chimney adds additional 4’-8”) 
Building 200 – 35’ 

( adding chimney will exceed requirement) 

14,810 966 Rowland Street No new building will be constructed on this 
parcel. 

 

34,073 3865 Church Street 

Christian Life Center 
Previously combined with 972 Rowland St. 

for renovations 
Building 300= 12,824 sq. ft.  

38% building density 
 

 
Building 300  

 26’-11” 

15,987 3871 Church Street No new building will be constructed on this 
parcel. 

 

39,644 3895 Church Street 

Building 400=12,670 sq. ft.  
Multipurpose building- restaurant, doctor’s 

office, office space, retail space 
Building 500= 3971 sq. ft.-  Retail building 

42% building density 

 
Building 400 

34’ – 4”  
 

Building 500 
21’- 0” 

 

61,267 993/1001/1011 Rowland Street 

No new buildings will be constructed on these 
parcels.  These parcels are non-conforming 
grandfathered uses that will be remain as 

parking areas. 

 



City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention Inc. 
w/Clarkston International Bible Church 
P&Z Committee Meeting: December 18, 2018 
City Council Meeting: January 3, 2019                                                                                                            Page 5 

NAMB PUD SUBMITTAL 2018 
 

 
 
Table 4.0 Illustrates parking requirements for the proposed PUD:  
Table 4.0  

        Current Address Parking Requirements  Parking Spaces 

 
 
 
 

 
 

954 Rowland Street 
960 Rowland Street 

A.  Boarding/rooming houses=1 space per 
bedroom 

B. Multifamily= 2 spaces per dwelling unit 
Building 100= 4 bedrooms 
Building 200 = 8 bedrooms  

 
A. 4 bedrooms 

=4 spaces or 
8 spaces  

B. 4 bedrooms= 
8 spaces or  
16 spaces 

 3865 Church Street 

Building 300 
1 space per 3 seats in the main assembly 
area or 1 space per 50 sq. ft. where fixed 

seats are not provided. 
 

 
87 spaces   

 3895 Church Street 

Building 400 
Restaurant|3208 sq. ft.  
Restaurant | 1817 sq. ft.  

@ 1 space per 100 sq. ft. no seats/ 1 space 
per 3 seats + 1 employee min. of 10 spaces 

 
Doctor’s office| 3814 sq. ft.  

6 spaces per practitioner @ 2 practitioners 
 

Office space| 7622 sq. ft.  
1 space per 250 sq. ft.  

 
 

Retail space | 1812 sq. ft.  
1 space per 250 sq. ft.  

 
Building 500 

Retail| 3735 sq. ft.  
1 space per 250 sq. ft.  

 

 
43 spaces 
19 spaces  

 
 
 

 
 

12 spaces 
 

 
31 spaces 

 
 
 

8 spaces 
 

15 spaces 

   

 
Total parking spaces 

required  
 

227 
 

 
Future Land Use: Mixed Use:  According to the Clarkston 2040 Comprehensive Plan, this area 
is a mix of diverse uses including multifamily housing, commercial, office, and urban compatible 
industrial uses (marker spaces, manual crafts and breweries).  
 
General Standards for approval: 
When any request is made for a Planned Unit Development (PUD) to construct two (2) or more 
buildings on a tract or several tracts of land, the following points will be reviewed as follows; 
 
Point 1:   Is the proposed development suitable in view of the use and development of adjacent 
or nearby property?  
All planned unit development shall meet standards all requirements as set forth based on the 
permitted type of PUD. Planned mixed use developments require forty thousand (40,000) square 



City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention Inc. 
w/Clarkston International Bible Church 
P&Z Committee Meeting: December 18, 2018 
City Council Meeting: January 3, 2019                                                                                                            Page 6 

NAMB PUD SUBMITTAL 2018 
 

feet on multiple parcels which is permitted in the NC-1 zoning district.  Only those uses permitted 
in the zoning district which the proposed development is located shall be permitted in the planned 
unit development. The impacts of post-development may affect traffic circulation and other uses 
of lands surrounding the property. The development is suitable in view of the proposed 
development of multi-family, office space, restaurants and retail that is permitted in the zoning 
district.  
 
Point 2: Does the proposed development adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent 
or nearby property?  
If the mixed use PUD request is approved, it would permit uses to be constructed that are suitable 
in view of the use of adjacent land uses. The proposed PUD will not adversely affect the existing 
use or usability of adjacent or nearby properties.  As outlined in the Clarkston 2040 Comprehensive 
Plan this area is designated as mixed use, which includes a mix of diverse uses including 
multifamily housing, commercial, office, and urban compatible industrial uses (marker spaces, 
manual crafts and breweries).  
 
Point 3: Does the proposed development result in a use which will or could cause an excessive 
or burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities or schools? 
The development will cause an increased use of existing streets, with vehicular and pedestrian 
traffic. The nature of the proposed development will create an increase in the number of vehicular 
trips on Rogers Street, Market Street and North Indian Creek Drive. Due to the streetscape project 
along Rowland Street the developer has had a meeting with the consultant team to discuss traffic 
calming measures on Rowland Street. If approved the applicant/developer will be required to 
follow all policies and procedures, best management practices (BMPs) for land disturbance, 
demolition and pertaining to storm water runoff and erosion/sedimentation control. The applicants 
have submitted a tree replacement and landscape plans, and all buffer requirements will be adhered 
to base on the requirements outlined in the zoning district. School facilities will not be adversely 
affected by the proposed mixed use PUD.  
 
Point 4: Are there other existing or changing conditions which, because of their impact on the 
public health, safety, morality and general welfare of the community give supporting grounds 
for either the approval or denial of the proposed development? 
There are concerns about traffic flow based on the entrances and exits of the proposed development 
onto Church Street and Rowland Street. However, because the development will be included in a 
road diet on Rowland Street, the impact the vehicular traffic and pedestrian traffic has on the 
proposed developed has the potential of being a suitable community oriented project.  
 
 Recommendation): 
Staff recommends conditionally approving of the Planned Unit Development (PUD) request 
submitted with the following conditions; 
 

1. The applicant shall adhere to the Metropolitan North Georgia Water Planning District 
and Georgia Stormwater Management Manual requirements. 

2. Retail shall have no more than five thousand (5,000) square feet of gross floor area. 



City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention Inc. 
w/Clarkston International Bible Church 
P&Z Committee Meeting: December 18, 2018 
City Council Meeting: January 3, 2019                                                                                                            Page 7 

NAMB PUD SUBMITTAL 2018 
 

3. If off street parking facilities are used at night, they shall be properly illuminated for 
the safety of pedestrians, vehicles and for security. The lightning shall be designed so 
as not to reflect onto or cause glare in any adjacent residential district.  

4. The plan shall provide bicycle parking racks at a ratio of a least (1) bicycle parking 
space every twenty (20) automobile parking spaces (12 bicycle parking spaces). The 
bicycle parking spaces shall be located within the landscape zone a maximum distance 
of one hundred (100) feet from the building entrance, or shall be located at least as 
close as the closest automobile space and shall provide a concrete pad upon which the 
bicycle parking space shall be firmly rooted. 

5. All developments are required to comply with all signage provisions as outlined in the 
Ordinance. 

6. No uses which emit odors, fumes or continuous loud noise are permitted.  
7. The applicant shall submit to the City and DeKalb County for review, and recording of 

the lot combination of 954 and 960 Rowland Street. 
  

Additional Information: 
             
Street Index Map   Current Zoning and Future Land Maps     Conceptual Site Plan  
Aerial Map of location Tax Map 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 



MYRICK GUROSKY + ASSOCIATES
700 Montgomery Highway, Suite 156      -      Birmingham, AL 35216      -      205.313.3020     -     www.mgandassociates.com

MYRICK GUROSKY + ASSOCIATES

Shawanna N. Qawiy, MPA, MSCM
Planning & Development Director
City of Clarkston
1055 Rowland Street
Clarkston, GA 30021

RE:  SEND Relief – Clarkston

Subject:  PUD Submittal Site Plan Revision

Dear Ms. Qawiy:

As requested in this week’s Planning and Zoning meeting and in compliance with the approved conditions, 
please find the attached revised site plan (details below) that includes the parking reductions requested 
by the Planning and Zoning Board.  To help prepare the City Council for our complete PUD presentation, 
please allow this correspondence to summarize other topics and information that will be addressed in our 
presentation to the City Council during the work session on Tuesday January 29, 2019.

PRIOR SITE PLAN OPTIONS

In an effort to address comments and concerns from the City and residents which were expressed in the 
December 2018 Planning and Zoning meeting and beyond, we developed multiple site options that were 
presented to the Planning and Zoning Board in last Tuesday’s meeting.  As you know, it was our intent to 
provide options that best worked for the residents of Clarkston, and we regret any confusion these options 
may have caused among residents.  Each of the additional site plan options showed a reduction of parking 
that would provide counts below what is allowed in NC-1 zoning (without utilizing the “shared parking” 
allotment).  In reality, we are not aware of anything being submitted as part of the PUD approval that is 
outside the general requirements already set forth in the current NC-1 zoning.  At best, the PUD could 
allow for less parking than would otherwise be required in our current NC-1 zoning,   resulting in more 
green-space.  In any event, we have multiple plans that meet and exceed the required parking for our 
NC-1 zoning (with or without the shared parking allotment).

To summarize, regardless of any approved PUD, our development plans clearly fit within the current NC-
1 zoning.  As you know, our desire is for this property to be designated as a PUD, as it would allow for less 
parking and enable us to provide greater green spaces and the like to enhance the development for all 
involved.  

As requested by the Planning and Zoning Board, the information below outlines changes to the submitted 
site plan.  This is the only site plan option that is being submitted or discussed.

CURRENT REVISED SITE PLAN

Below is a summary of the revisions to the site plan as well as other pertinent details:

http://www.mgandassociates.com/


MYRICK GUROSKY + ASSOCIATES
JANUARY 25, 2019

2

• The parking shown represents 166 spaces (61 less than the requirement, without the shared parking 
allowance)

• Bicycle parking meets the conditions approved by Planning and Zoning.

• The Grand Lawn is approximately 20,000 sf and is a direct result of the reduction in parking.

• All landscaped areas, including perimeter and parking islands, meet or exceed requirements.

• The required “tree-save” has been considered as part of this plan (and others previously submitted) 
and meets or exceeds requirements.

• Plan meets or exceeds all storm-water and drainage requirements set-fourth by Dekalb County , as 
required in the conditions approved by Planning and Zoning.

OTHER ITEMS

Below is a summary of additional pertinent items that we will be addressing in our presentation to the 
City Council on Tuesday, January 29th:

• Overview and 3D computer model of architectural changes made to the proposed facilities to better 
meet the desires of the City and its residents

• Clarifications and factual specifics to address resident concerns and misperceptions regarding various 
aspects of our plan, including the size and scale of the proposed facilities, tree-save efforts by the 
owner, and general zoning compliance.

• Send Relief will also address comments concerning the purpose and proposed initiatives for this 
development.

As always, please feel free to reach out with any questions or additional needs.  We look forward to 
Tuesday’s meeting and appreciate your help in providing this information to the City Council for review 
prior to Tuesday’s work session.

Sincerely,









www.traffic-impact.com 1050 Crown Pointe Pkwy, Ste 500, Atlanta, GA 30338 1 | P a g e

TO: Brian Hatcher, P.E., LBYD Engineers

FROM: Scott Israelson, P.E., PTOE

DATE: 3 January 2019

RE: Traffic Generation Statement

SEND Relief Development PUD

Clarkston, GA

Introduction

Traffic Impact Group, LLC has been retained to prepare a traffic generation statement for the

proposed SEND Relief development located at the Clarkston International Bible Church (CIBC). The site

is located on Church Street north of Indian Creek Drive.

The existing parcel has an existing church building, a Christian Life Center (CLC) building, and four

single-family homes.

The proposed redevelopment would raze the four single-family homes, construct mission housing

(Buildings 100 and 200), relocate the church to the Christian Life Center (Building 300), and raze the

existing church to construct a multi-purpose building (Building 400) and retail space (Building 500).

Building 100 consists of a one-story, four-bedroom unit and Building 200 consists of two stories (i.e.

two units) with four bedrooms per unit.

Building 300 is the existing CLC which consists of a gymnasium, an auditorium, classrooms, and office

space, among other uses. Worship services which currently occur at the church will be relocated to the

CLC.

Building 400 will consist of two small restaurant spaces, a 3,814 square foot medical office, a 1,812 SF

retail space, and 7,662 square feet of office space that will be relocated from the existing CLC.

Although the site plan shows restaurant space totaling 5,025 SF, it is envisioned that the south end of

Building 400 would be a small coffee place and not intended to be a full service, commercial, high-

customer restaurant or coffee shop. This square footage was required to determine the worst case

scenario for parking demand.

Building 500 will consist of 3,735 SF of retail space. The type of retail envisioned for the

redevelopment would be small-scale arts and crafts.

Access to the site is provided via Rowland Street, and an existing surface parking lot also has access to

Rogers Street.

Figure 1 shows the most recent site plan.



Site
P
la

n

F
ig

u
re

1

SE
N

D
R
e
lie

f
-

C
la

rk
sto

n

D
a
te

:
3

Ja
n
u
a
ry

2
0
1
9

P
ro

je
ct

N
o
:

1
9
-G

A
5
2
3
3
-1



www.traffic-impact.com 1050 Crown Pointe Pkwy, Ste 500, Atlanta, GA 30338 3 | P a g e

Trip Generation

According to CIBC, the average daily attendance for ministry is approximately 387 on weekdays,

although not all drive to the site and many carpool.

A trip generation analysis has been prepared in accordance with the Institute of Transportation

Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition, using the Average Rate for the Daily and Peak

Hours. Table 1 summarizes the trip generation estimates for existing conditions.

Table 1 - ITE Trip Generation Estimates (Existing)

Average Weekday Driveway Volumes
AM Peak

Hour
PM Peak

Hour

Land Use
ITE

Code
Size

Daily
Trips

Enter Exit Enter Exit

Single-Family Detached
Housing

210 4 Dwelling Units 38 1 2 3 1

Church 560 1000 Seats 440 5 5 12 18

Driveway Peak Hour Trips 478 6 7 15 19

It should be noted that the existing office space is not specifically separated in the trip generation

estimate since Land Use #560 “Church” includes office space for staff in its trip generation rates.

Table 2 summarizes the trip generation estimates for Full Build conditions.

Table 2 - ITE Trip Generation Estimates (Full Build)

Average Weekday Driveway Volumes
AM Peak

Hour
PM Peak

Hour

Land Use
ITE

Code
Size

Daily
Trips

Enter Exit Enter Exit

Multifamily Housing
(Low-Rise)

210 3 Dwelling Units 22 0 1 1 1

Church 560 1000 Seats 440 5 5 12 18

Medical-Dental Office
Building

720 7.7 Th.Sq.Ft. GFA 58 9 3 4 11

Arts and Craft Store 879 3.7 Th.Sq.Ft. GFA 209 0 0 11 12

Driveway Peak Hour Trips 729 14 9 28 42

It should be noted that the restaurant space is not included in the above since the area is not intended

to be a commercial, high-customer coffee shop.



www.traffic-impact.com 1050 Crown Pointe Pkwy, Ste 500, Atlanta, GA 30338 4 | P a g e

Conclusion

The proposed change in land use is estimated to result in around 250 more daily trips, with 10 more AM

peak hour trips and 36 more PM peak hour trips. This equates to approximately one new vehicle every

six minutes in the morning hours, and one new vehicle every 100 seconds in the evening hours.

Analysis shows that the proposed SEND Relief redevelopment will result in minor increases in daily and

peak hour traffic, with correspondingly low impacts to the adjacent roadways and intersections.

Please contact me at 470.808.1252 or by email at scott@traffic-impact.com with any comments or

questions.



 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 29, 2019 
 

SUBJECT: Rezoning of the property located at 3723 Debelle Street from NR-1 Low Density 
Neighborhood Residential to NR-2 Medium Density Residential. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
PURPOSE: Rezoning request from Christopher Malone to rezone the property located at 3723 
Debelle Street-Clarkston, GA  30021, parcel 18 067 03 001 from NR-1 Low Density 
Neighborhood Residential to NR-2 Medium Density Residential. If approved the applicant will 
subdivide the property into two (2) lots to construct a new 1400+/- SF single family home on 
the vacant lot.  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff Analysis Attached 
Staff recommended approval of the rezoning request with conditions and to amend 
the zoning map. 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATIONS:  
Based on the January 22, 2019, planning and zoning Board public hearing meeting, the Board 
recommended approval of the rezoning request with conditions and to amend the zoning 
map. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Rezoning application, staff rezoning analysis report, maps. 

ITEM NO: E2 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 

HEARING TYPE:  
 Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy, Planning and Dev. Director 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



















































CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 29, 2019 
 

SUBJECT: Variance from Section 702 NR-2 Medium Density Neighborhood Residential (f) 
Bulk and area regulations.  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
PURPOSE: Variance request from Christopher Malone to vary from Section 702 NR-2 Medium 
Density Neighborhood Residential (f) Bulk and area regulations of minimum lot size of 7500 
sq. ft. to subdivide the lot into two (2) lots.  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff Analysis Attached 
Staff recommends approval of the variance request with conditions. 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATIONS: 01.22.19 Meeting minutes attached 
Based on the January 22, 2019, planning and zoning Board public hearing meeting, the Board 
recommends approval of the variance request with conditions and to amend the zoning map. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Rezoning application, staff rezoning analysis report, maps. 

ITEM NO: E3 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 

HEARING TYPE:  
 Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy, Planning and Dev. Director 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 29, 2019 
 
SUBJECT:  Adopt Required Stormwater Ordinances and Regulations: Georgia Erosion & Sedimentation Act, 
Enforcement Response Plan and   Green Infrastructure / Low Impact Development Program. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:    
In a letter dated December 5th, 2018, the Georgia Environmental Protection Division (EPD) commented on 
the city’s 2017-2018 MS4 (Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System) Annual Report. The letter requested 
that the city respond to twelve questions from the EPD by a January 18, 2019, deadline.  A majority of the 
responses were addressed through additional clarification of the report contents or information that was 
omitted from the Annual Report. Three EPD questions dealt with outdated city stormwater ordinances or 
missing regulations and codes that were not included in prior Annual Reports.  
 
Consequently, the City’s Response letter to EPD stated that these ordinances, codes, and/or regulations 
would be adopted by City Council by February 5, 2019, followed by city implementation immediately 
thereafter.  
 
NEED/ IMPACT:   
To comply with the EDP’s request, the following three (3) ordinances and regulations require council 
review and approval by February 5th:  
 

GEORGIA EROSION & SEDIMENTATION ACT 
The state legislature approved of a revised Erosion & Sedimentation Act (E&SC) Act in 2016. All 
governments that are Local issuing Authorities (LIA’s); i.e. governments that review Erosion & 
Sedimentation Control Plans as opposed to EPD staff, were required to adopt this ordinance. The City did 
not adopt this new legislation.  
The primary differences between the former and revised Act is as follows: 
 Refinement of state buffer encroachment language and limits of disturbance  
 Refinement of language defining structures within state water buffer 

ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 
The National Pollutant Discharge Elimination Plan (NPDES) for MS4 PH I agencies require the development 
and implementation of an Enforcement Response Plan (ERP). This plan outlines the city’s response to 
various potential stormwater violations including enforcement action to correct said stormwater 
violations. The City adopted an ordinance approximately 5 years ago but EPD’s review of the program 

ITEM NO:  E4 

ACTION TYPE: 
Ordinance 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages: 76 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES    NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



identified a lack of sufficient detail in all stormwater areas of violation and lack of specificity regarding 
enforcement response. 
The updated ERP attached herein includes the following components: 
 Ordinance Text 
 Types of enforcement mechanisms to be utilized 
 Possible violations, use of enforcement actions, and corrective actions 
 Time frames for investigation and use of enforcement actions 
 Description of tracking violations 

The components outlined above will pertain to the following types of stormwater violations: 
 Illicit Discharge and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers  
 Soil Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution Control 
 Post Development Stormwater Management for New Development and Redevelopment 
 Solid Waste Disposal / Offenses Against Public Health 
 Highly Visible Pollutant Sources 
 Industrial Facility Storm Water Discharge Control 

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE / LOW IMPACT DEVELOPMENT 
The city is required to develop a Green Infrastructure – Low Impact Development Program (GI/LID) to 
encourage the use of Green Infrastructure & Low Impact Development practices and track the progress 
and implementation of said practices through development and re-development reviews.  
Although the attached document is a “development regulation”, it is recommended that city council 
approve the GI/LID Program, which will ultimately be included in the City of Clarkston Development Code. 
Once approved by council, the Director of Planning & Development will move forward to incorporate this 
process into the city development review process. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
Staff recommends Council approve the required Stormwater Ordinances and Regulations: Georgia Erosion 
& Sedimentation Act ordinance, the Enforcement Response Plan and the Green Infrastructure / Low 
Impact Development Program at February 5, 2019, Council meeting. 
 
 

 

 
 
    
   



MEMO 

 

FROM: City Manager Gomez 

TO: Mayor & City Council 

RE: EPD Response to City MS4 2017-2018 Phase I Annual Report 

        Required Adoption of Various Stormwater Ordinances and Regulations 

 

Background 

In a letter dated December 5th, 2018, the Environmental Protection Division commented on the 

city’s 2017-2018 MS4 Annual Report. The letter requested that the city respond to twelve 

questions from the EPD by January 18th, 2019 deadline. 

A majority of the responses were addressed through additional clarification of the report contents 

or information that was omitted from the Annual Report. Three EPD questions dealt with 

outdated city stormwater ordinances or missing regulations and codes that were not included in 

prior Annual Reports.  

Consequently, the City’s Response letter to EPD stated that these ordinances, codes and/or 

regulations would be adopted by City Council by February 5th, 2019 followed by city 

implementation immediately thereafter.  

The following are the ordinances and regulations that will require council review and approval 

by February 5th. Each will be briefly described as follows: 

GEORGIA EROSION & SEDIMENTATION ACT 

The state legislature approved of a revised Erosion & Sedimentation Act (E&SC) Act in 2016. 

All governments that are Local issuing Authorities (LIA’s); i.e. governments that review Erosion 

& Sedimentation Control Plans as opposed to EPD staff, were required to adopt this ordinance. 

The City did not adopt this new legislation.  

The primary differences between the former and revised Act is as follows: 

 Refinement of state buffer encroachment language and limits of disturbance  

 Refinement of language defining structures within state water buffer 

ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

The National Pollutant Discharge Elimination Plan (NPDES) for MS4 PH I agencies require the 

development and implementation of an Enforcement Response Plan (ERP). This plan outlines 

the cities response to various potential stormwater violations including enforcement action to 

correct said stormwater violations. The City adopted an ordinance approximately 5 years ago but 

EPD’s review of the program identified a lack of sufficient detail in all stormwater areas of 

violation and lack of specificity regarding enforcement response. 



The updated ERP attached herein includes the following components: 

 Ordinance Text 

 Types of enforcement mechanisms to be utilized 

 Possible violations, use of enforcement actions and corrective actions 

 Time frames for investigation and use of enforcement actions 

 Description of tracking violations 

The components outlined above will pertain to the following types of stormwater violations: 

 Illicit Discharge and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers  

 Soil Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution Control 

 Post Development Stormwater Management for New Development and Redevelopment 

 Solid Waste Disposal / Offenses Against Public Health 

 Highly Visible Pollutant Sources 

 Industrial Facility Storm Water Discharge Control 

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE / LOW IMPACT DEVELOPMENT 

The city is required to develop a Green Infrastructure – Low Impact Development Program 

(GI/LID) to encourage the use of Green Infrastructure & Low Impact Development practices and 

track the progress and implementation of said practices through development and re-

development reviews.  

Although the attached document is a “development regulation”, it is recommended that city 

council approve the GI/LID Program, which will ultimately be included in the City of Clarkston 

Development Code. Once approved by council, the Director of Planning & Development will 

move forward to incorporate this process into the city development review process. 

The GI/LID Program is attached herein. 

NEXT STEPS 

Adopt the attached ordinances and regulations by February 5th, 2019.  

City staff will subsequently move forward with implementation of all three ordinances and 

regulations including moving forward with modifications to the appropriate code sections.  

 

Attachments (3) 













Ms. Lisa A. Perrett 
January 17, 2019 
Page 6 of 11 
 
 

Sedimentation Act (GESA) was revised in 2015.  The LIAs were notified by the Division 
that their Erosion and Sedimentation (E&S) ordinance must be revised to comply with 
the 2015 GESA revisions by December 2016.  In an August 14, 2018 email (i.e. Frank 
Carubba to Keith Barker), the Division notified the City that we still had not received the 
revised ordinance.  The City must immediately take steps to revise the ordinance to 
comply with the GESA.  Either submit the revised ordinance by January 18, 2019, or 
provide a deadline date for when the ordinance will be submitted. 
 
The City is in the process of revising the E&S ordinance in order to comply with GESA 
revised in 2015.  City Council will adopt these changes during the next City Council 
Meeting; February 5th, 2019. The City will forward to EPD the minutes from the meeting 
& the revised ordinance documenting that it has been adopted.  
 

11. Part 2.E.1 – the City provided an inventory containing 304 highly visible pollutant 
sources (HVPS).  It was noted that this inventory appears to contain all commercial 
businesses located within the City, including such businesses as attorneys, accountants, 
travel agencies, etc.  The City is allowed to define what they consider an HVPS facility.  
The determination should be based on the potential the HVPS facility has to impact the 
MS4.  Therefore, the City should only consider including facilities on the inventory that 
store chemicals outdoors (e.g. businesses with nurseries attached, such as Walmart or 
Homed Depot), conduct activities that use potential pollutants (e.g. car repair, oil 
change, car washes) or have another potential to cause pollution (e.g. restaurants with 
dumpsters, gas stations, veterinarian or kennel facilities, etc.).  If the City does not have 
reason to believe the facility will cause pollution, then the facility should be removed 
from the list.  The City can make this determination based on an inspection of the facility 
or based on best judgement.  Because the Permit requires the City to inspect 100% of the 
HVPS facilities within a 5-year period, it is important that the City cull the inventory to 
remove facilities that are not considered HVPS.  The City can retain the existing 
inventory, or submit an updated inventory to the Division by January 18, 2019. 
 
It has been determined that the City will retain the current inventory.  Clarkston is a 
unique City because of the number of immigrants who own businesses.  The City was 
identified as a Refugee Resettlement City by the federal government in the 1980’s. Most 
of the businesses are owned or operated by recent immigrants or refugees. There are 59 
languages spoken in the city. The city population is over 50% refugees. This has 
presented a challenge to the City as other cultures around the world do not have the same 
cleaning standards as we do in the United States.  Being able to inspect a wide range of 
businesses has not only allowed the City to identify cleanliness and pollution issues, but 
has also provided the opportunity to educate business owners on the importance of proper 
cleanup and disposal.  













 1 

City of Clarkston Soil Erosion, 
Sedimentation And Pollution 
Control Ordinance 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, 
BY  
            
_____________________________________ 

SECTION I 
TITLE 

 
This ordinance will be known as “City of 
Clarkston Soil Erosion, Sedimentation and 
Pollution Control Ordinance.” 
 

SECTION II 
DEFINITIONS 

 
The following definitions shall apply in the 
interpretation and enforcement of this 
ordinance, unless otherwise specifically stated: 
 

1. Best Management Practices (BMPs):  
These include sound conservation and 
engineering practices to prevent and 
minimize erosion and resultant 
sedimentation, which are consistent with, 
and no less stringent than, those 
practices contained in the ‘Manual for 
Erosion and Sediment Control in 
Georgia’ published by the Commission 
as of January 1 of the year in which the 
land-disturbing activity was permitted. 

2. Board: The Board of Natural Resources. 
3. Buffer: The area of land immediately 

adjacent to the banks of state waters in 
its natural state of vegetation, which 
facilitates the protection of water quality 
and aquatic habitat. 

4. Certified Personnel: A person who has 
successfully completed the appropriate 
certification course approved by the 
Georgia Soil and Water Conservation 
Commission. 

5. Coastal Marshlands: Shall have the 
same meaning as in O.C.G.A. 12-5-282. 

6. Commission: The Georgia Soil and 
Water Conservation Commission 
(GSWCC). 

7. CPESC: Certified Professional in Erosion 
and Sediment Control with current 
certification by EnviroCert, Inc., which is 
also referred to as CPESC or CPESC, 
Inc. 

8. Cut: A portion of land surface or area 
from which earth has been removed or 
will be removed by excavation; the depth 
below original ground surface to the 
excavated surface.  Also known as 
excavation. 

9. Department: The Georgia Department 
of Natural Resources (DNR). 

10. Design Professional: A professional 
licensed by the State of Georgia in the 
field of: engineering, architecture, 
landscape architecture, forestry, geology, 
or land surveying; or a person that is a 
Certified Professional in Erosion and 
Sediment Control (CPESC) with a 
current certification by EnviroCert, Inc.  
Design Professionals shall practice in a 
manner that complies with applicable 
Georgia law governing professional 
licensure. 

11. Director: The Director of the 
Environmental Protection Division or an 
authorized representative. 

12. District: The DeKalb County Soil and 
Water Conservation District. 

13. Division: The Environmental Protection 
Division (EPD) of the Department of 
Natural Resources. 

14. Drainage Structure: A device 
composed of a virtually nonerodible 
material such as concrete, steel, plastic 
or other such material that conveys water 
from one place to another by intercepting 
the flow and carrying it to a release point 
for storm water management, drainage 
control, or flood control purposes. 

15. Erosion: The process by which land 
surface is worn away by the action of 
wind, water, ice or gravity. 

16.  Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution 
Control Plan: A plan required by the 
Erosion and Sedimentation Act, 
O.C.G.A. Chapter 12-7, that includes, as 
a minimum protections at least as 
stringent as the State General Permit, 
best management practices, and 



 2 

requirements in section IV.C. of this 
ordinance. 

17. Fill: A portion of land surface to which 
soil or other solid material has been 
added; the depth above the original 
ground surface or an excavation. 

18. Final Stabilization: All soil disturbing 
activities at the site have been 
completed, and that for unpaved areas 
and areas not covered by permanent 
structures and areas located outside the 
waste disposal limits of a landfill cell that 
has been certified by EPD for waste 
disposal, 100% of the soil surface is 
uniformly covered in permanent 
vegetation with a density of 70% or 
greater, or landscaped according to the 
Plan (uniformly covered with landscaping 
materials in planned landscape areas), 
or equivalent permanent stabilization 
measures as defined in the Manual 
(excluding a crop of annual vegetation 
and seeding of target crop perennials 
appropriate for the region). Final 
stabilization applies to each phase of 
construction. 

19. Finished Grade: The final elevation and 
contour of the ground after cutting or 
filling and conforming to the proposed 
design. 

20. Grading: Altering the shape of ground 
surfaces to a predetermined condition; 
this includes stripping, cutting, filling, 
stockpiling and shaping or any 
combination thereof and shall include the 
land in its cut or filled condition. 

21. Ground Elevation: The original 
elevation of the ground surface prior to 
cutting or filling. 

22. Land-Disturbing Activity: Any activity 
which may result in soil erosion from 
water or wind and the movement of 
sediments into state waters or onto lands 
within the state, including, but not limited 
to, clearing, dredging, grading, 
excavating, transporting, and filling of 
land but not including agricultural 
practices as described in Section III, 
Paragraph 5. 

23. Larger Common Plan of Development 
or Sale: A contiguous area where 
multiple separate and distinct 

construction activities are occurring 
under one plan of development or sale.  
For the purposes of this paragraph, 
“plan” means an announcement; piece of 
documentation such as a sign, public 
notice or hearing, sales pitch, 
advertisement, drawing, permit 
application, zoning request, or computer 
design; or physical demarcation such as 
boundary signs, lot stakes, or surveyor 
markings, indicating that construction 
activities may occur on a specific plot. 

24. Local Issuing Authority: The governing 
authority of any county or municipality 
which is certified pursuant to subsection 
(a) O.C.G.A. 12-7-8.  

25. Metropolitan River Protection Act 
(MRPA): A state law referenced as 
O.C.G.A. 12-5-440 et.seq., which 
addresses environmental and 
developmental matters in certain 
metropolitan river corridors and their 
drainage basins. 

26. Natural Ground Surface: The ground 
surface in its original state before any 
grading, excavation or filling. 

27. Nephelometric Turbidity Units (NTU): 
Numerical units of measure based upon 
photometric analytical techniques for 
measuring the light scattered by finely 
divided particles of a substance in 
suspension.  This technique is used to 
estimate the extent of turbidity in water in 
which colloidally dispersed or suspended 
particles are present. 

28. NOI: A Notice of Intent form provided by 
EPD for coverage under the State 
General Permit. 

29. NOT: A Notice of Termination form 
provided by EPD to terminate coverage 
under the State General Permit. 

30. Operator: The party or parties that have: 
(A) operational control of construction 
project plans and specifications, 
including the ability to make 
modifications to those plans and 
specifications; or (B) day-to-day 
operational control of those activities that 
are necessary to ensure compliance with 
an erosion, sedimentation and pollution 
control plan for the site or other permit 
conditions, such as a person authorized 



 3 

to direct workers at a site to carry out 
activities required by the erosion, 
sedimentation and pollution control plan 
or to comply with other permit conditions. 

31. Outfall: The location where storm water 
in a discernible, confined and discrete 
conveyance, leaves a facility or site or, if 
there is a receiving water on site, 
becomes a point source discharging into 
that receiving water. 

32. Permit: The authorization necessary to 
conduct a land-disturbing activity under 
the provisions of this ordinance. 

33. Person: Any individual, partnership, firm, 
association, joint venture, public or 
private corporation, trust, estate, 
commission, board, public or private 
institution, utility, cooperative, state 
agency, municipality or other political 
subdivision of the State of Georgia, any 
interstate body or any other legal entity. 

34. Phase or Phased: Sub-parts or 
segments of construction projects where 
the sub-part or segment is constructed 
and stabilized prior to completing 
construction activities on the entire 
construction site. 

35. Project: The entire proposed 
development project regardless of the 
size of the area of land to be disturbed. 

36. Properly Designed: Designed in 
accordance with the design requirements 
and specifications contained in the 
“Manual for Erosion and Sediment 
Control in Georgia” (Manual) published 
by the Georgia Soil and Water 
Conservation Commission as of January 
1 of the year in which the land-disturbing 
activity was permitted and amendments 
to the Manual as approved by the 
Commission up until the date of NOI 
submittal. 

37. Roadway Drainage Structure: A device 
such as a bridge, culvert, or ditch, 
composed of a virtually nonerodible 
material such as concrete, steel, plastic, 
or other such material that conveys water 
under a roadway by intercepting the flow 
on one side of a traveled roadway 
consisting of one or more defined lanes, 
with or without shoulder areas, and 

carrying water to a release point on the 
other side. 

38. Sediment: Solid material, both organic 
and inorganic, that is in suspension, is 
being transported, or has been moved 
from its site of origin by wind, water, ice, 
or gravity as a product of erosion. 

39. Sedimentation: The process by which 
eroded material is transported and 
deposited by the action of water, wind, 
ice or gravity. 

40. Soil and Water Conservation District 
Approved Plan: An erosion, 
sedimentation and pollution control plan 
approved in writing by the DeKalb 
County Soil and Water Conservation 
District. 

41. Stabilization: The process of 
establishing an enduring soil cover of 
vegetation by the installation of 
temporary or permanent structures for 
the purpose of reducing to a minimum 
the erosion process and the resultant 
transport of sediment by wind, water, ice 
or gravity. 

42. State General Permit: The National 
Pollution Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) general permit or permits for 
storm water runoff from construction 
activities as is now in effect or as may be 
amended or reissued in the future 
pursuant to the state’s authority to 
implement the same through federal 
delegation under the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 
U.S.C. Section 1251, et seq., and 
subsection (f) of O.C.G.A.  12-5-30. 

43. State Waters: Any and all rivers, 
streams, creeks, branches, lakes, 
reservoirs, ponds, drainage systems, 
springs, wells, and other bodies of 
surface or subsurface water, natural or 
artificial, lying within or forming a part of 
the boundaries of Georgia which are not 
entirely confined and retained completely 
upon the property of a single individual, 
partnership, or corporation. 

44. Structural Erosion, Sedimentation and 
Pollution Control Practices: Practices 
for the stabilization of erodible or 
sediment-producing areas by utilizing the 
mechanical properties of matter for the 



 4 

purpose of either changing the surface of 
the land or storing, regulating or 
disposing of runoff to prevent excessive 
sediment loss.  Examples of structural 
erosion and sediment control practices 
are riprap, sediment basins, dikes, level 
spreaders, waterways or outlets, 
diversions, grade stabilization structures 
and sediment traps, etc.  Such practices 
can be found in the publication Manual 
for Erosion and Sediment Control in 
Georgia. 

45. Trout Streams: All streams or portions 
of streams within the watershed as 
designated by the Wildlife Resources 
Division of the Georgia Department of 
Natural Resources under the provisions 
of the Georgia Water Quality Control Act, 
O.C.G.A. 12-5-20, in the rules and 
regulations for Water Quality Control, 
Chapter 391-3-6 at 
www.epd.georgia.gov. Streams 
designated as primary trout waters are 
defined as water supporting a self- 
sustaining population of rainbow, brown 
or brook trout.  Streams designated as 
secondary trout waters are those in 
which there is no evidence of natural 
trout reproduction, but are capable of 
supporting trout throughout the year.  
First order trout waters are streams into 
which no other streams flow except 
springs. 

46. Vegetative Erosion and Sedimentation   
Control Measures: Measures for the 
stabilization of erodible or sediment-
producing areas by covering the soil 
with: 

a. Permanent seeding, sprigging or 
planting, producing long-term 
vegetative cover, or 

 b. Temporary seeding, producing 
short-term vegetative cover; or 

 c. Sodding, covering areas with a 
turf of perennial sod-forming 
grass. 

Such measures can be found in the 
publication Manual for Erosion and 
Sediment Control in Georgia. 

47. Watercourse: Any natural or artificial 
watercourse, stream, river, creek, 
channel, ditch, canal, conduit, culvert, 

drain, waterway, gully, ravine, or wash in 
which water flows either continuously or 
intermittently and which has a definite 
channel, bed and banks, and including 
any area adjacent thereto subject to 
inundation by reason of overflow or 
floodwater. 

48. Wetlands: Those areas that are 
inundated or saturated by surface or 
ground water at a frequency and duration 
sufficient to support, and that under 
normal circumstances do support a 
prevalence of vegetation typically 
adapted for life in saturated soil 
conditions.  Wetlands generally include 
swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar 
areas. 

 
SECTION III 

EXEMPTIONS 
 
This ordinance shall apply to any land-
disturbing activity undertaken by any person on 
any land except for the following: 

1. Surface mining, as the same is defined in 
O.C.G.A. 12-4-72, "The Georgia Surface 
Mining Act of 1968". 

2. Granite quarrying and land clearing for 
such quarrying; 

3. Such minor land-disturbing activities as 
home gardens and individual home 
landscaping, repairs, maintenance work, 
fences, and other related activities which 
result in minor soil erosion; 

4. The construction of single-family 
residences, when such construction 
disturbs less than one (1) acre and is not 
a part of a larger common plan of 
development or sale with a planned 
disturbance of equal to or greater than 
one (1) acre and not otherwise exempted 
under this paragraph; provided, however, 
that construction of any such residence 
shall conform to the minimum 
requirements as set forth in O.C.G.A. 12-
7-6 and this paragraph.  For single-family 
residence construction covered by the 
provisions of this paragraph, there shall 
be a buffer zone between the residence 
and any state waters classified as trout 
streams pursuant to Article 2 of Chapter 
5 of the Georgia Water Quality Control 

http://www.epd.georgia.gov/


 5 

Act.  In any such buffer zone, no land-
disturbing activity shall be constructed 
between the residence and the point 
where vegetation has been wrested by 
normal stream flow or wave action from 
the banks of the trout waters.  For 
primary trout waters, the buffer zone shall 
be at least 50 horizontal feet, and no 
variance to a smaller buffer shall be 
granted.  For secondary trout waters, the 
buffer zone shall be at least 50 horizontal 
feet, but the Director may grant variances 
to no less than 25 feet.  Regardless of 
whether a trout stream is primary or 
secondary, for first order trout waters, 
which are streams into which no other 
streams flow except for springs, the 
buffer shall be at least 25 horizontal feet, 
and no variance to a smaller buffer shall 
be granted.  The minimum requirements 
of subsection (b) of O.C.G.A. 12-7-6 and 
the buffer zones provided by this 
paragraph shall be enforced by the Local 
Issuing Authority; 

5. Agricultural operations as defined in  
O.C.G.A. 1-3-3, "definitions", to include 
raising, harvesting or storing of products 
of the field or orchard; feeding, breeding 
or managing livestock or poultry; 
producing or storing feed for use in the 
production of livestock, including but not 
limited to cattle, calves, swine, hogs, 
goats, sheep, and rabbits or for use in 
the production of poultry, including but 
not limited to chickens, hens and turkeys; 
producing plants, trees, fowl, or animals; 
the production of aqua culture, 
horticultural, dairy, livestock, poultry, 
eggs and apiarian products; farm 
buildings and farm ponds;  

6. Forestry land management practices, 
including harvesting; provided, however, 
that when such exempt forestry practices 
cause or result in land-disturbing or other 
activities otherwise prohibited in a buffer, 
as established in paragraphs (15) and 
(16) of Section IV C. of this ordinance, no 
other land-disturbing activities, except for 
normal forest management practices, 
shall be allowed on the entire property 
upon which the forestry practices were 
conducted for a period of three (3) years 

after completion of such forestry 
practices; 

7. Any project carried out under the 
technical supervision of the Natural 
Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) 
of the United States Department of 
Agriculture; 

8. Any project involving less than one (1) 
acre of disturbed area; provided, 
however, that this exemption shall not 
apply to any land-disturbing activity within 
a larger common plan of development or 
sale with a planned disturbance of equal 
to or greater than one (1) acre or within 
200 feet of the bank of any state waters, 
and for purposes of this paragraph, 
“State Waters” excludes channels and 
drainage ways which have water in them 
only during and immediately after rainfall 
events and intermittent streams which do 
not have water in them year-round; 
provided, however, that any person 
responsible for a project which involves 
less than one (1) acre, which involves 
land-disturbing activity, and which is 
within 200 feet of any such excluded 
channel or drainage way, must prevent 
sediment from moving beyond the 
boundaries of the property on which such 
project is located and provided, further, 
that nothing contained herein shall 
prevent the Local Issuing Authority from 
regulating any such project which is not 
specifically exempted by paragraphs 1, 2, 
3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9 or 10 of this section; 

9. Construction or maintenance projects, or 
both, undertaken or financed in whole or 
in part, or both, by the Department of 
Transportation, the Georgia Highway 
Authority, or the State Road and Tollway 
Authority; or any road construction or 
maintenance project, or both, undertaken 
by any county or municipality; provided, 
however, that construction or 
maintenance projects of the Department 
of Transportation or the State Road and 
Tollway Authority which disturb one or 
more contiguous acres of land shall be 
subject to provisions of O.C.G.A. 12-7-
7.1;  except where the Department of 
Transportation, the Georgia Highway 
Authority, or the State Road and Tollway 



 6 

Authority is a secondary permittee for a 
project located within a larger common 
plan of development or sale under the 
state general permit, in which case a 
copy of a notice of intent under the state 
general permit shall be submitted to the 
Local Issuing Authority, the Local Issuing 
Authority shall enforce compliance with 
the minimum requirements set forth in 
O.C.G.A. 12-7-6 as if a permit had been 
issued, and violations shall be subject to 
the same penalties as violations by 
permit holders; 

10. Any land-disturbing activities conducted 
by any electric membership corporation 
or municipal electrical system or any 
public utility under the regulatory 
jurisdiction of the Public Service 
Commission, any utility under the 
regulatory jurisdiction of the Federal 
Energy Regulatory Commission, any 
cable television system as defined in 
O.C.G.A. 36-18-1, or any agency or 
instrumentality of the United States 
engaged in the generation, transmission, 
or distribution of power; except where an 
electric membership corporation or 
municipal electrical system or any public 
utility under the regulatory jurisdiction of 
the Public Service Commission, any 
utility under the regulatory jurisdiction of 
the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission, any cable television system 
as defined in O.C.G.A. 36-18-1, or any 
agency or instrumentality of the United 
states engaged in the generation, 
transmission, or distribution of power is a 
secondary permittee for a project located 
within a larger common plan of 
development or sale under the state 
general permit, in which case the Local 
Issuing Authority shall enforce 
compliance with the minimum 
requirements set forth in O.C.G.A. 12-7-6 
as if a permit had been issued, and 
violations shall be subject to the same 
penalties as violations by permit holders; 
and 

11. Any public water system reservoir. 
 
 
 

SECTION IV 
MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR 
EROSION, SEDIMENTATION AND 

POLLUTION CONTROL USING BEST 
MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

 
A. GENERAL PROVISIONS  

Excessive soil erosion and resulting 
sedimentation can take place during land-
disturbing activities if requirements of the 
ordinance and the NPDES General Permit 
are not met.  Therefore, plans for those 
land-disturbing activities which are not 
exempted by this ordinance shall contain 
provisions for application of soil erosion, 
sedimentation and pollution control 
measures and practices.  The provisions 
shall be incorporated into the erosion, 
sedimentation and pollution control plans.  
Soil erosion, sedimentation and pollution 
control measures and practices shall 
conform to the minimum requirements of 
Section IV B. & C. of this ordinance.  The 
application of measures and practices shall 
apply to all features of the site, including 
street and utility installations, drainage 
facilities and other temporary and 
permanent improvements.  Measures shall 
be installed to prevent or control erosion, 
sedimentation and pollution during all 
stages of any land-disturbing activity in 
accordance with requirements of this 
ordinance and the NPDES General Permit. 
 

B. MINIMUM  REQUIREMENTS/ BMPs 
1. Best management practices as set forth 

in Section IV B. & C. of this ordinance 
shall be required for all land-disturbing 
activities.  Proper design, installation, 
and maintenance of best management 
practices shall constitute a complete 
defense to any action by the Director or 
to any other allegation of noncompliance 
with paragraph (2) of this subsection or 
any substantially similar terms contained 
in a permit for the discharge of storm 
water issued pursuant to subsection (f) 
of O.C.G.A. 12-5-30, the "Georgia Water 
Quality Control Act".  As used in this 
subsection the terms "proper design” 
and “properly designed” mean designed 
in accordance with the hydraulic design 



 7 

specifications contained in the “Manual 
for Erosion and Sediment Control in 
Georgia” specified in O.C.G.A. 12-7-6 
subsection (b).                                                   

2. A discharge of storm water runoff from 
disturbed areas where best 
management practices have not been 
properly designed, installed, and 
maintained shall constitute a separate 
violation of any land-disturbing permit 
issued by a Local Issuing Authority or of 
any state general permit issued by the 
Division pursuant to subsection (f) of 
O.C.G.A. 12-5-30, the "Georgia Water 
Quality Control Act", for each day on 
which such discharge results in the 
turbidity of receiving waters being 
increased by more than twenty-five (25)  
nephelometric turbidity units for waters  
supporting warm water fisheries or by 
more than ten (10) nephelometric 
turbidity units for waters classified as 
trout waters.  The turbidity of the 
receiving waters shall be measured in 
accordance with guidelines to be issued 
by the Director.  This paragraph shall 
not apply to any land disturbance 
associated with the construction of 
single family homes which are not part 
of a larger common plan of development 
or sale unless the planned disturbance 
for such construction is equal to or 
greater than five (5) acres.  

3. Failure to properly design, install, or 
maintain best management practices 
shall constitute a violation of any land-     
disturbing permit issued by a Local 
Issuing Authority or of any state general 
permit issued by the Division pursuant 
to subsection (f) of O.C.G.A.  12-5-30, 
the "Georgia Water Quality Control Act", 
for each day on which such failure 
occurs. 

4. The Director may require, in accordance 
with regulations adopted by the Board, 
reasonable and prudent monitoring of 
the turbidity level of receiving waters 
into which discharges from land 
disturbing activities occur. 

5.   The LIA may set more stringent buffer             
requirements than stated in C.15,16 and 
17, in light of O.C.G.A. § 12-7-6 (c). 

C. The rules and regulations, ordinances, or 
resolutions adopted pursuant to O.C.G.A.  
12-7-1 et seq. for the purpose of governing 
land-disturbing activities shall require, as a 
minimum, protections at least as stringent 
as the state general permit; and best 
management practices, including sound 
conservation and engineering practices to 
prevent and minimize erosion and resultant 
sedimentation, which are consistent with, 
and no less stringent than, those practices 
contained in the Manual for Erosion and 
Sediment Control in Georgia published by 
the Georgia Soil and Water Conservation 
Commission as of January 1 of the year in  
which the land-disturbing activity was 
permitted, as well as the following:  
1. Stripping of vegetation, regrading and 

other development activities shall be 
conducted in a manner so as to 
minimize erosion;  

2. Cut-fill operations must be kept to a 
minimum;  

3. Development plans must conform to 
topography and soil type so as to create 
the lowest practicable erosion potential; 

4. Whenever feasible, natural vegetation 
shall be retained, protected and 
supplemented; 

5. The disturbed area and the duration of 
exposure to erosive elements shall be 
kept to a practicable minimum;  

6. Disturbed soil shall be stabilized as 
quickly as practicable; 

7. Temporary vegetation or mulching shall 
be employed to protect exposed critical 
areas during development; 

8. Permanent vegetation and structural 
erosion control practices shall be 
installed as soon as practicable; 

9. To the extent necessary, sediment in 
run-off water must be trapped by the 
use of debris basins, sediment basins, 
silt traps, or similar measures until the 
disturbed area is stabilized.  As used in 
this paragraph, a disturbed area is 
stabilized when it is brought to a 
condition of continuous compliance with 
the requirements of O.C.G.A. 12-7-1 et 
seq.; 

10. Adequate provisions must be provided 
to minimize damage from surface water 



 8 

to the cut face of excavations or the 
sloping of fills;  

11. Cuts and fills may not endanger 
adjoining property; 

12. Fills may not encroach upon natural 
watercourses or constructed channels in 
a manner so as to adversely affect other   
property owners; 

13. Grading equipment must cross flowing 
streams by means of bridges or culverts 
except when such methods are not 
feasible, provided, in any case, that 
such crossings are kept to a minimum; 

14. Land-disturbing activity plans for 
erosion, sedimentation and pollution 
control shall include provisions for 
treatment or control of any source of 
sediments and adequate sedimentation 
control facilities to retain sediments on-
site or preclude sedimentation of 
adjacent waters beyond the levels 
specified in Section IV B. 2. of this 
ordinance; 

15. Except as provided in paragraph (16) 
and (17) of this subsection, there is 
established a 25 foot buffer along the 
banks of all state waters, as measured 
horizontally from the point where 
vegetation has been wrested by normal 
stream flow or wave action, except 
where the Director determines to allow a 
variance that is at least as protective of 
natural resources and the environment, 
where otherwise allowed by the Director 
pursuant to O.C.G.A. 12-2-8, where a 
drainage structure or a roadway 
drainage structure must be constructed, 
provided that adequate erosion control 
measures are incorporated in the project 
plans and specifications, and are 
implemented; or where bulkheads and 
sea walls are installed to prevent 
shoreline erosion on Lake Oconee and 
Lake Sinclair; or along any ephemeral 
stream. As used in this provision, the 
term 'ephemeral stream' means a 
stream: that under normal 
circumstances has water flowing only 
during and for a short duration after 
precipitation events; that has the 
channel located above the ground-water 
table year round; for which ground water 

is not a source of water; and for which 
runoff from precipitation is the primary 
source of water flow, unless exempted 
as along an ephemeral stream, the 
buffers of at least 25 feet established 
pursuant to part 6 of Article 5, Chapter 5 
of Title 12, the "Georgia Water Quality 
Control Act", shall remain in force unless 
a variance is granted by the Director as 
provided in this paragraph. The 
following requirements shall apply to 
any such buffer:   
a. No land-disturbing activities shall be 

conducted within a buffer and a 
buffer shall remain in its natural, 
undisturbed state of vegetation until 
all land-disturbing activities on the 
construction site are completed.  
Once the final stabilization of the 
site is achieved, a buffer may be 
thinned or trimmed of vegetation as 
long as a protective vegetative 
cover remains to protect water 
quality and aquatic habitat and a 
natural canopy is left in sufficient 
quantity to keep shade on the 
stream bed; provided, however, that 
any person constructing a single-
family residence, when such 
residence is constructed by or 
under contract with the owner for 
his or her own occupancy, may thin 
or trim vegetation in a buffer at any 
time as long as protective 
vegetative cover remains to protect 
water quality and aquatic habitat 
and a natural canopy is left in 
sufficient quantity to keep shade on 
the stream bed; and 

b. The buffer shall not apply to the 
following land-disturbing activities, 
provided that they occur at an 
angle, as measured from the point 
of crossing, within 25 degrees of 
perpendicular to the stream; cause 
a width of disturbance of not more 
than 50 feet within the buffer; and 
adequate erosion control measures 
are incorporated into the project 
plans and specifications and are 
implemented: (i) Stream crossings 



 9 

for water lines; or (ii) Stream 
crossings for sewer lines; and 

16. There is established a 50 foot buffer as 
measured horizontally from the point 
where vegetation has been wrested by 
normal stream flow or wave action, 
along the banks of any state waters 
classified as "trout streams" pursuant to 
Article 2 of Chapter 5 of Title 12, the 
“Georgia Water Quality Control Act", 
except where a roadway drainage 
structure must be constructed ; 
provided, however, that small springs 
and streams classified as trout streams 
which discharge an average annual flow 
of 25 gallons per minute or less shall 
have a 25 foot buffer or they may be 
piped, at the discretion of the 
landowner, pursuant to the terms of a 
rule providing for a general variance 
promulgated by the Board, so long as 
any such pipe stops short of the 
downstream landowner’s property and 
the landowner complies with the buffer 
requirement for any adjacent trout 
streams. The Director may grant a 
variance from such buffer to allow land-
disturbing activity, provided that 
adequate erosion control measures are 
incorporated in the project plans and 
specifications and are implemented. The 
following requirements shall apply to 
such buffer: 
a. No land-disturbing activities shall be 

conducted within a buffer and a 
buffer shall remain in its natural, 
undisturbed, state of vegetation 
until all land-disturbing activities on 
the construction site are completed. 
Once the final stabilization of the 
site is achieved, a buffer may be 
thinned or trimmed of vegetation as 
long as a protective vegetative 
cover remains to protect water 
quality and aquatic habitat and a 
natural canopy is left in sufficient 
quantity to keep shade on the 
stream bed: provided, however, that 
any person constructing a single–
family residence, when such 
residence is constructed by or 
under contract with the owner for 

his or her own occupancy, may thin 
or trim vegetation in a buffer at any 
time as long as protective 
vegetative cover remains to protect 
water quality and aquatic habitat 
and a natural canopy is left in 
sufficient quantity to keep shade on 
the stream bed; and  

b. The buffer shall not apply to the 
following land-disturbing activities, 
provided that they occur at an 
angle, as measured from the point 
of crossing, within 25 degrees of 
perpendicular to the stream; cause 
a width of disturbance of not more 
than 50 feet within the buffer; and 
adequate erosion control measures 
are incorporated into the project 
plans and specifications and are 
implemented: (i) Stream crossings 
for water lines; or (ii) Stream 
crossings for sewer lines; and 

17. There is established a 25 foot buffer 
along coastal marshlands, as measured 
horizontally from the coastal marshland-
upland interface, as determined in 
accordance with Chapter 5 of Title 12 of 
this title, the “Coastal Marshlands 
Protection Act of 1970.” And the rules 
and regulations promulgated 
thereunder, except where the director 
determines to allow a variance that is at 
least as protective of natural resources 
and the environment, where otherwise 
allowed by the director pursuant to Code 
Section 12-2-8, where an alteration 
within the buffer area has been 
authorized pursuant to Code Section 12-
5-286, for maintenance of any currently 
serviceable structure, landscaping, or 
hardscaping, including bridges, roads, 
parking lots, golf courses, golf cart 
paths, retaining walls, bulkheads, and 
patios; provided,  however, that if such 
maintenance requires any land-
disturbing activity, adequate erosion 
control measures are incorporated into 
the project plans and specifications and 
such measures are fully implemented, 
where a drainage structure or roadway 
drainage structure is constructed or 
maintained; provided, however, that if 



 10 

such maintenance requires any land-
disturbing activity, adequate erosion 
control measures are incorporated into 
the project plans and specifications and 
such measures are fully implemented, 
on the landward side of any currently 
serviceable shoreline stabilization 
structure, or for the maintenance of any 
manmade storm-water detention basin, 
golf course pond, or impoundment that 
is located entirely within the property of 
a single individual, partnership, or 
corporation; provided,  however, that  
adequate erosion control measures are 
incorporated into the project plans and 
specifications and such measures are 
fully implemented.  For the purposes of 
this paragraph maintenance shall be 
defined as actions necessary or 
appropriate for retaining or restoring a 
currently serviceable improvement to 
the specified operable condition to 
achieve its maximum useful life.  
Maintenance includes emergency 
reconstruction of recently damaged 
parts of a currently serviceable structure 
so long as it occurs within a reasonable 
period of time after damage occurs.  
Maintenance does not include any 
modification that changes the character, 
scope or size of the original design and 
serviceable shall be defined as usable in 
its current state or with minor 
maintenance but not so degraded as to 
essentially require reconstruction. 

 
a. No land-disturbing activities shall be 

conducted within a buffer and a 
buffer shall remain in its natural, 
undisturbed, state of vegetation until 
all land-disturbing activities on the 
construction site are completed. 
Once the final stabilization of the site 
is achieved, a buffer may be thinned 
or trimmed of vegetation as long as 
a protective vegetative cover 
remains to protect water quality and 
aquatic habitat; provided, however, 
that any person constructing a 
single–family residence, when such 
residence is constructed by or under 
contract with the owner for his or her 

own occupancy, may thin or trim 
vegetation in a buffer at any time as 
long as protective vegetative cover 
remains to protect water quality and 
aquatic habitat; and  

b. The buffer shall not apply to 
crossings for utility lines that cause a 
width of disturbance of not more 
than 50 feet within the buffer, 
provided, however, that adequate 
erosion control measures are 
incorporated into the project plans 
and specifications and such 
measures are fully implemented. 

c. The buffer shall not apply to any 
land-disturbing activity conducted 
pursuant to and in compliance with a 
valid and effective land-disturbing 
permit issued subsequent to April 
22, 2014, and prior to December 31, 
2015; provided, however, that 
adequate erosion control measures 
are incorporated into the project 
plans and specifications and such 
measures are fully implemented or 
any lot for which the preliminary plat 
has been approved prior to 
December 31, 2015 if roadways, 
bridges, or water and sewer lines 
have been extended to such lot prior 
to the effective date of this Act and if 
the requirement to maintain a 25 foot  
buffer would consume at least 18 
percent of the high ground of the 
platted lot otherwise available for 
development; provided, however, 
that adequate erosion control 
measures are incorporated into the 
project plans and specifications and 
such measures are fully 
implemented. 

d. Activities where the area within the 
buffer is not more than 500 square 
feet or that have a “Minor Buffer 
Impact” as defined in 391-3-7-.01(r),  
provided that the total area of buffer 
impacts is less than 5,000 square 
feet are deemed to have an 
approved buffer variance by rule.  
Bank stabilization structures are not 
eligible for coverage under the 
variance by rule and notification 



 11 

shall be made to the Division at least 
14 days prior to the commencement 
of land disturbing activities.  

D. Nothing contained in O.C.G.A. 12-7-1 et 
seq. shall prevent any Local Issuing 
Authority from adopting rules and 
regulations, ordinances, or resolutions 
which contain stream buffer requirements 
that exceed the minimum requirements in 
Section IV B. & C. of this ordinance. 

E. The fact that land-disturbing activity for                                         
which a permit has been issued results in      
injury to the property of another shall neither      
constitute proof of nor create a presumption       
of a violation of the standards provided for 
in this ordinance or the terms of the permit. 

 
SECTION V 

APPLICATION/PERMIT       
PROCESS 

 
A. GENERAL                                                 

The property owner, developer and 
designated planners and engineers shall 
design and review before submittal the 
general development plans. The Local 
Issuing Authority shall review the tract to 
be developed and the area surrounding it.  
They shall consult the zoning ordinance, 
storm water management ordinance, 
subdivision ordinance, flood damage 
prevention ordinance, this ordinance, and 
any other ordinances, rules, regulations or 
permits, which regulate the development of 
land within the jurisdictional boundaries of 
the Local Issuing Authority.  However, the 
owner and/or operator are the only parties 
who may obtain a permit. 
 

B. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 
1. No person shall conduct any land-

disturbing activity within the jurisdictional 
boundaries of the City of Clarkston 
without first obtaining a permit from the 
City Planning and Development 
Department to perform such activity and 
providing a copy of Notice of Intent 
submitted to EPD if applicable. 

2. The application for a permit shall be 
submitted to the City Planning and 
Development Department and must 
include the applicant’s erosion, 

sedimentation and pollution control plan 
with supporting data, as necessary.  
Said plans shall include, as a minimum, 
the data specified in Section V C. of this 
ordinance.  Erosion, sedimentation and 
pollution control plans, together with 
supporting data, must demonstrate 
affirmatively that the land disturbing 
activity proposed will be carried out in 
such a manner that the provisions of 
Section IV B. & C. of this ordinance will 
be met.  Applications for a permit will not 
be accepted unless accompanied by 
three (3) copies of the applicant’s 
erosion, sedimentation and pollution 
control plans.  All applications shall 
contain a certification stating that the 
plan preparer or the designee thereof 
visited the site prior to creation of the 
plan in accordance with EPD Rule 391-
3-7-.10. 

3. In addition to the local permitting fees, 
fees will also be assessed pursuant to 
paragraph (5) subsection (a) of 
O.C.G.A. 12-5-23, provided that such 
fees shall not exceed $80.00 per acre of 
land-disturbing activity, and these fees 
shall be calculated and paid by the 
primary permittee as defined in the state 
general permit for each acre of land-
disturbing activity included in the 
planned development or each phase of 
development.  All applicable fees shall 
be paid prior to issuance of the land 
disturbance permit. In a jurisdiction that 
is certified pursuant to subsection (a) of 
O.C.G.A. 12-7-8 half of such fees levied 
shall be submitted to the Division; 
except that any and all fees due from an 
entity which is required to give notice 
pursuant to paragraph (9) or (10) of 
O.C.G.A. 12-7-17 shall be submitted in 
full to the Division, regardless of the 
existence of a Local Issuing Authority in 
the jurisdiction. 

4. Immediately upon receipt of an 
application and plan for a permit, the 
Local Issuing Authority shall refer the 
application and plan to the District for its 
review and approval or disapproval 
concerning the adequacy of the erosion, 
sedimentation and pollution control plan. 



 12 

The District shall approve or disapprove 
a plan within 35 days of receipt.  Failure 
of the District to act within 35 days shall 
be considered an approval of the 
pending plan.  The results of the District 
review shall be forwarded to the Local 
Issuing Authority.  No permit will be 
issued unless the plan has been 
approved by the District, and any 
variances required by Section IV C. 15, 
16 and 17 have been obtained, all fees 
have been paid, and bonding, if required 
as per Section V B.6., have been 
obtained.  Such review will not be 
required if the Local Issuing Authority 
and the District have entered into an 
agreement which allows the Local 
Issuing Authority to conduct such review 
and approval of the plan without 
referring the application and plan to the 
District.  The Local Issuing Authority 
with plan review authority shall approve 
or disapprove a revised Plan submittal 
within 35 days of receipt.  Failure of the 
Local Issuing Authority with plan review 
authority to act within 35 days shall be 
considered an approval of the revised 
Plan submittal. 

5. If a permit applicant has had two or 
more violations of previous permits, this 
ordinance section, or the Erosion and 
Sedimentation Act, as amended, within 
three years prior to the date of filing the 
application under consideration, the 
Local Issuing Authority may deny the 
permit application.  

6. The Local Issuing Authority may require 
the permit applicant to post a bond in 
the form of government security, cash, 
irrevocable letter of credit, or any 
combination thereof up to, but not 
exceeding, $3,000.00 per acre or 
fraction thereof of the proposed land-
disturbing activity, prior to issuing the 
permit.  If the applicant does not comply 
with this section or with the conditions of 
the permit after issuance, the Local 
Issuing Authority may call the bond or 
any part thereof to be forfeited and may 
use the proceeds to hire a contractor to 
stabilize the site of the land-disturbing 
activity and bring it into compliance.  

These provisions shall not apply unless 
there is in effect an ordinance or statute 
specifically providing for hearing and 
judicial review of any determination or 
order of the Local Issuing Authority with 
respect to alleged permit violations. 

 
C. PLAN REQUIREMENTS 

1. Plans must be prepared to meet the 
minimum requirements as contained in 
Section IV B. & C. of this ordinance, or 
through the use of more stringent, 
alternate design criteria which conform 
to sound conservation and engineering 
practices.  The Manual for Erosion and 
Sediment Control in Georgia is hereby 
incorporated by reference into this 
ordinance.  The plan for the land-
disturbing activity shall consider the 
interrelationship of the soil types, 
geological and hydrological 
characteristics, topography, watershed, 
vegetation, proposed permanent 
structures including roadways, 
constructed waterways, sediment 
control and storm water management 
facilities, local ordinances and State 
laws.  Maps, drawings and supportive 
computations shall bear the signature 
and seal of the certified design 
professional.  Persons involved in land 
development design, review, permitting, 
construction, monitoring, or inspections 
or any land disturbing activity shall meet 
the education and training certification 
requirements, dependent on his or her 
level of involvement with the process, as 
developed by the Commission and in 
consultation with the Division and the 
Stakeholder Advisory Board created 
pursuant to O.C.G.A. 12-7-20. 

2. Data Required for Site Plan shall include 
all the information required from the 
appropriate Erosion, Sedimentation and 
Pollution Control Plan Review Checklist 
established by the Commission as of 
January 1 of the year in which the land-
disturbing activity was permitted. 

D. PERMITS 
1. Permits shall be issued or denied as 

soon as practicable but in any event not 
later than forty-five (45) days after 



 13 

receipt by the Local Issuing Authority of 
a completed application, providing 
variances and bonding are obtained, 
where necessary and all applicable fees 
have been paid prior to permit issuance. 
The permit shall include conditions 
under which the activity may be 
undertaken. 

2. No permit shall be issued by the Local 
Issuing Authority unless the erosion, 
sedimentation and pollution control plan 
has been approved by the District and 
the Local Issuing Authority has 
affirmatively determined that the plan is 
in compliance with this ordinance, any 
variances required by Section IV C. 15, 
16 and 17 are obtained, bonding 
requirements, if necessary, as per 
Section V B. 6. are met and all 
ordinances and rules and regulations in 
effect within the jurisdictional boundaries 
of the Local Issuing Authority are met. If 
the permit is denied, the reason for 
denial shall be furnished to the 
applicant. 

3. Any land-disturbing activities by a Local 
Issuing Authority shall be subject to the 
same requirements of this ordinance, 
and any other ordinances relating to 
land development, as are applied to 
private persons and the division shall 
enforce such requirements upon the 
Local Issuing Authority. 

4. If the tract is to be developed in phases, 
then a separate permit shall be required 
for each phase. 

5. The permit may be suspended, revoked, 
or modified by the Local Issuing 
Authority, as to all or any portion of the 
land affected by the plan, upon finding 
that the holder or his successor in the 
title is not in compliance with the 
approved erosion and sedimentation 
control plan or that the holder or his 
successor in title is in violation of this 
ordinance.  A holder of a permit shall 
notify any successor in title to him as to 
all or any portion of the land affected by 
the approved plan of the conditions 
contained in the permit. 

6. The LIA may reject a permit application 
if the applicant has had two or more 

violations of previous permits or the 
Erosion and Sedimentation Act permit 
requirements within three years prior to 
the date of the application, in light of 
O.C.G.A. 12-7-7 (f) (1).   

 
 
 
 
 

SECTION VI   
INSPECTION AND ENFORCEMENT 

  
A. The City Inspector or designee will 

periodically inspect the sites of land-
disturbing activities for which permits have 
been issued to determine if the activities are 
being conducted in accordance with the 
plan and if the measures required in the 
plan are effective in controlling erosion and 
sedimentation.  Also, the Local Issuing 
Authority shall regulate primary, secondary 
and tertiary permittees as such terms are 
defined in the state general permit.  Primary 
permittees shall be responsible for 
installation and maintenance of best 
management practices where the primary 
permittee is conducting land-disturbing 
activities.  Secondary permittees shall be 
responsible for installation and maintenance 
of best management practices where the 
secondary permittee is conducting land-
disturbing activities.  Tertiary permittees 
shall be responsible for installation and 
maintenance where the tertiary permittee is 
conducting land-disturbing activities.    If, 
through inspection, it is deemed that a 
person engaged in land-disturbing activities 
as defined herein has failed to comply with 
the approved plan, with permit conditions, or 
with the provisions of this ordinance, a 
written notice to comply shall be served 
upon that person.  The notice shall set forth 
the measures necessary to achieve 
compliance and shall state the time within 
which such measures must be completed.  
If the person engaged in the land-disturbing 
activity fails to comply within the time 
specified, he shall be deemed in violation of 
this ordinance.  

B. The Local Issuing Authority must amend its 
ordinances to the extent appropriate within 



 14 

twelve (12) months of any amendments to 
the Erosion and Sedimentation Act of 1975. 

C. The City Inspector or designee shall have 
the power to conduct such investigations as 
it may reasonably deem necessary to carry 
out duties as prescribed in this ordinance, 
and for this purpose to enter at reasonable 
times upon any property, public or private, 
for the purpose of investigation and 
inspecting the sites of land-disturbing 
activities. 

D. No person shall refuse entry or access to 
any authorized representative or agent of 
the Local Issuing Authority, the 
Commission, the District, or Division who 
requests entry for the purposes of 
inspection, and who presents appropriate 
credentials, nor shall any person obstruct, 
hamper or interfere with any such 
representative while in the process of 
carrying out his official duties. 

E. The District or the Commission or both shall 
semi-annually review the actions of counties 
and municipalities which have been certified 
as Local Issuing Authorities pursuant to 
O.C.G.A. 12-7-8 (a). The District or the 
Commission or both may provide technical 
assistance to any county or municipality for 
the purpose of improving the effectiveness 
of the county’s or municipality’s erosion, 
sedimentation and pollution control 
program.  The District or the Commission 
shall notify the Division and request 
investigation by the Division if any deficient 
or ineffective local program is found. 

F. The Division may periodically review the 
actions of counties and municipalities which 
have been certified as Local Issuing 
Authorities pursuant to Code Section 12-7-8 
(a). Such review may include, but shall not 
be limited to, review of the administration 
and enforcement of a governing authority’s 
ordinance and review of conformance with 
an agreement, if any, between the District 
and the governing authority. If such review 
indicates that the governing authority of any 
county or municipality certified pursuant to 
O.C.G.A. 12-7-8 (a) has not administered or 
enforced its ordinances or has not 
conducted the program in accordance with 
any agreement entered into pursuant to 
O.C.G.A. 12-7-7 (e), the Division shall notify 

the governing authority of the county or 
municipality in writing.  The governing 
authority of any county or municipality so 
notified shall have 90 days within which to 
take the necessary corrective action to 
retain certification as a Local Issuing 
Authority.  If the county or municipality does 
not take necessary corrective action within 
90 days after notification by the Division, the 
Division shall revoke the certification of the 
county or municipality as a Local Issuing 
Authority.  

 
SECTION VII 

PENALTIES AND INCENTIVES 
 
A. FAILURE TO OBTAIN A PERMIT FOR 

LAND-DISTURBING ACTIVITY                
If any person commences any land-
disturbing activity requiring a land-disturbing 
permit as prescribed in this ordinance 
without first obtaining said permit, the 
person shall be subject to revocation of his 
business license, work permit or other 
authorization for the conduct of a business 
and associated work activities within the 
jurisdictional boundaries of the Local Issuing 
Authority. 

B. STOP-WORK ORDERS 
1. For the first and second violations of the 

provisions of this ordinance, the City 
Inspector, the Director or the Local 
Issuing Authority shall issue a written 
warning to the violator.  The violator 
shall have five days to correct the 
violation.  If the violation is not corrected 
within five days, the City Inspector, the 
Director or the Local Issuing Authority 
shall issue a stop-work order requiring 
that land-disturbing activities be stopped 
until necessary corrective action or 
mitigation has occurred; provided, 
however, that, if the violation presents 
an imminent threat to public health or 
waters of the state or if the land-
disturbing activities are conducted 
without obtaining the necessary permit, 
the City Inspector, the Director or the 
Local Issuing Authority shall issue an 
immediate stop-work order in lieu of a 
warning; 



 15 

2. For a third and each subsequent 
violation, the City Inspector, the Director 
or the Local Issuing Authority shall issue 
an immediate stop-work order; and; 

3. All stop-work orders shall be effective 
immediately upon issuance and shall be 
in effect until the necessary corrective 
action or mitigation has occurred. 

4. When a violation in the form of taking 
action without a permit, failure to 
maintain a stream buffer, or significant 
amounts of sediment, as determined by 
the City Inspector, the Local Issuing 
Authority or by the Director or his or her 
Designee, have been or are being 
discharged into state waters and where 
best management practices have not 
been properly designed, installed, and 
maintained, a stop work order shall be 
issued by the City Inspector, the Local 
Issuing Authority or by the Director or 
his or her Designee.  All such stop work 
orders shall be effective immediately 
upon issuance and shall be in effect 
until the necessary corrective action or 
mitigation has occurred.  Such stop 
work orders shall apply to all land-
disturbing activity on the site with the 
exception of the installation and 
maintenance of temporary or permanent 
erosion and sediment controls.  

C. BOND FORFEITURE                                  
If, through inspection, it is determined 
that a person engaged in land-disturbing 
activities has failed to comply with the 
approved plan, a written notice to 
comply shall be served upon that 
person.  The notice shall set forth the 
measures necessary to achieve 
compliance with the plan and shall state 
the time within which such measures 
must be completed.  If the person 
engaged in the land-disturbing activity 
fails to comply within the time specified, 
he shall be deemed in violation of this 
ordinance and, in addition to other 
penalties, shall be deemed to have 
forfeited his performance bond, if 
required to post one under the 
provisions of Section V B. 6.  The Local 
Issuing Authority may call the bond or 
any part thereof to be forfeited and may 

use the proceeds to hire a contractor or 
use City staff and equipment to stabilize 
the site of the land-disturbing activity 
and bring it into compliance. 

D. MONETARY PENALTIES 
1. Any person who violates any provisions 

of this ordinance, oorr  aannyy permit 
condition or limitation established 
pursuant to this ordinance, or who 
negligently or intentionally fails or 
refuses to comply with any final or 
emergency order of the Director or the 
City Inpsector issued as provided in this 
ordinance shall be liable for a civil 
penalty not to exceed $2,500.00 per 
day.  For the purpose of enforcing the 
provisions of this ordinance, 
notwithstanding any provisions in any 
City charter to the contrary, municipal 
courts shall be authorized to impose 
penalty not to exceed $2,500.00 for 
each violation. Notwithstanding any 
limitation of law as to penalties which 
can be assessed for violations of county 
ordinances, any magistrate court or any 
other court of competent jurisdiction 
trying cases brought as violations of this 
ordinance under county ordinances 
approved under this ordinance shall be 
authorized to impose penalties for such 
violations not to exceed $2,500.00 for 
each violation.  Each day during which 
violation or failure or refusal to comply 
continues shall be a separate violation. 

 
 

SECTION VIII 
EDUCATION AND 
CERTIFICATION 

 
A. Persons involved in land development 

design, review, permitting, construction, 
monitoring, or inspection or any land-
disturbing activity shall meet the education 
and training certification requirements, 
dependent on their level of involvement with 
the process, as developed by the 
commission in consultation with the division 
and the stakeholder advisory board created 
pursuant to O.C.G.A. 12-7-20. 

B. For each site on which land-disturbing 
activity occurs, each entity or person acting 



 16 

as either a primary, secondary, or tertiary 
permittee, as defined in the state general 
permit, shall have as a minimum one person 
who is in responsible charge of erosion and 
sedimentation control activities on behalf of 
said entity or person and meets the 
applicable education or training certification 
requirements developed by the Commission 
present on site whenever land-disturbing 
activities are conducted on that site.  A 
project site shall herein be defined as any 
land-disturbance site or multiple sites within 
a larger common plan of development or 
sale permitted by an owner or operator for 
compliance with the state general permit. 

C. Persons or entities involved in projects not 
requiring a state general permit but 
otherwise requiring certified personnel on 
site may contract with certified persons to 
meet the requirements of this ordinance. 

D. If a state general permittee who has 
operational control of land-disturbing 
activities for a site has met the certification 
requirements of paragraph (1) of subsection 
(b) of O.C.G.A. 12-7-19, then any person or 
entity involved in land-disturbing activity at 
that site and operating in a subcontractor 
capacity for such permittee shall meet those 
educational requirements specified in 
paragraph (4) of subsection (b) of O.C.G.A 
12-7-19 and shall not be required to meet 
any educational requirements that exceed 
those specified in said paragraph. 

 
SECTION IX 

ADMINISTRATIVE APPEAL 
         JUDICIAL REVIEW 

 
A. ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES 

The suspension, revocation, modification or 
grant with condition of a permit by the Local 
Issuing Authority upon finding that the 
holder is not in compliance with the 
approved erosion, sedimentation and 
pollution control plan; or that the holder is in 
violation of permit conditions; or that the 
holder is in violation of any ordinance; shall 
entitle the person submitting the plan or 
holding the permit to a hearing before the 
City Magistrate Court within thirty (30) days 
after receipt by the Local Issuing Authority 
of written notice of appeal. 

B.   JUDICIAL REVIEW 
Any person, aggrieved by a decision or 
order of the Local Issuing Authority, after 
exhausting his administrative remedies, 
shall have the right to appeal de novo to the 
Superior Court of DeKalb County. 

 
 
 

SECTION X 
EFFECTIVITY, VALIDITY 

AND LIABILITY 
  
A. EFFECTIVITY 

This ordinance shall become effective on 
the 5th day of February, 2019. 

B. VALIDITY 
If any section, paragraph, clause, phrase, or 
provision of this ordinance shall be 
adjudged invalid or held unconstitutional, 
such decisions shall not affect the remaining 
portions of this ordinance. 

C. LIABILITY 
1. Neither the approval of a plan under the 

provisions of this ordinance, nor the 
compliance with provisions of this 
ordinance shall relieve any person from 
the responsibility for damage to any 
person or property otherwise imposed 
by law nor impose any liability upon the 
Local Issuing Authority or District for 
damage to any person or property. 

2. The fact that a land-disturbing activity 
for which a permit has been issued 
results in injury to the property of 
another shall neither constitute proof of 
nor create a presumption of a violation 
of the standards provided for in this 
ordinance or the terms of the permit. 

3. No provision of this ordinance shall 
permit any persons to violate the 
Georgia Erosion and Sedimentation Act 
of 1975, the Georgia Water Quality 
Control Act or the rules and regulations 
promulgated and approved thereunder 
or pollute any Waters of the State as 
defined thereby.  

 
 
 ATTEST:      
 



 17 

______________________________________
               
 Signature       
 
 
______________________________________
                  
 Signature 

 
 

 
 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

 

 
Enforcement Response Plan 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page i 

Table of Contents 

INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 
ILLICIT DISCHARGES AND ILLEGAL CONNECTIONS TO STORM SEWERS ............................................................... 1 

Purpose [Sec. 22-90(a)] .................................................................................................................................. 1 
Responsibility for administration [Sec. 22-90.(e)] .............................................................................. 1 
Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-96] ............................................................................ 1 
Tracking ................................................................................................................................................................ 4 
Summary of enforcement measures .......................................................................................................... 4 

SOIL EROSION, SEDIMENTATION AND POLLUTION CONTROL ................................................................................ 6 
Purpose [Sec. 21-4(a)]..................................................................................................................................... 6 
Inspection and enforcement [Sec. 21-6] .................................................................................................. 6 
Penalties and incentives [Sec. 21-7] .......................................................................................................... 7 
Tracking ................................................................................................................................................................ 8 
Summary of enforcement measures .......................................................................................................... 9 

POSTDEVELOPMENT STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT AND REDEVELOPMENT ....... 13 
Purpose [Sec. 22-1] ....................................................................................................................................... 13 
Designation of article administrator [Sec. 22-3] ................................................................................ 13 
Stormwater design manual [Sec. 22-5] ................................................................................................. 13 
Failure to maintain [Sec. 22-20] ............................................................................................................... 13 
Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-21] ......................................................................... 13 
Tracking ............................................................................................................................................................. 16 
Summary of enforcement measures ....................................................................................................... 16 

SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL / OFFENSES AGAINST PUBLIC HEALTH ..................................................................... 18 
Purpose .............................................................................................................................................................. 18 
Applicability [Sec. 19-51] ............................................................................................................................ 18 
Disposal of refuse and garbage generally [Sec. 19-53] .................................................................... 18 
Waste and disposal thereof [Sec. 12-52] ............................................................................................... 19 
General penalty; continuing violations [Sec. 1-7] .............................................................................. 19 
Tracking ............................................................................................................................................................. 20 
Summary of enforcement measures ....................................................................................................... 20 

HIGHLY VISIBLE POLLUTANT SOURCES (HVPS) ................................................................................................. 21 
Purpose .............................................................................................................................................................. 21 
Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames .................. 21 
Tracking ............................................................................................................................................................. 24 
Summary of enforcement measures ....................................................................................................... 24 

INDUSTRIAL FACILITY STORM WATER DISCHARGE CONTROL ........................................................................... 27 
Purpose .............................................................................................................................................................. 27 
Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames .................. 27 
Tracking ............................................................................................................................................................. 30 
Summary of enforcement measures ....................................................................................................... 30 

CONCLUSION............................................................................................................................................................. 33 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 1 

INTRODUCTION 
As required in the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Phase I Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) permit effective June 11, 2014, the City of Clarkston (City) 
must develop and implement an Enforcement Response Plan (ERP) that describes the action to 
be taken for violations associated with this permit and the Stormwater Management Program 
(SWMP).  The ERP will detail the permittee’s responses to any noted stormwater violations, 
including escalating enforcement responses to address repeat and continuing violations. 

ILLICIT DISCHARGES AND ILLEGAL CONNECTIONS TO STORM SEWERS 

[CHAPTER 22, ARTICLE III] 

Purpose [Sec. 22-90(a)] 
The City of Clarkston, through the Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers 
ordinance, and through the ERP actions, seeks to protect the public health, safety, environment 
and general welfare of the citizens of the city through the regulation of non-stormwater 
discharges to the City of Clarkston separate storm sewer system to the maximum extent 
practicable as required by federal law.  The objectives of the ordinance are to: 

a) Regulate the contribution of pollutants to the MS4 by any person;
b) Prohibit illicit discharges and illegal connections to the MS4;
c) Prevent non-stormwater discharges, generated as a result of spills, inappropriate

dumping or disposal, to the MS4; and
d) To establish legal authority to carry out all inspection, surveillance monitoring

and enforcement procedures necessary to ensure compliance with this article.

Responsibility for administration [Sec. 22-90.(e)] 
The director of public works or his or her designee of the City of Clarkston shall administer, 
implement, and enforce the provisions of the Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm 
Sewers ordinance. 

Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-96] 
The following enforcement mechanisms will be used in the event a person violates the Illicit 
Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers ordinance: 

(a) Violations. 
(1) It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any provision or fail to comply with 

any of the requirements of this article. Any person who has violated or continues 
to violate the provisions of this article, may be subject to the enforcement actions 
outlined in this section or may be restrained by injunction or otherwise abated in a 
manner provided by law.  

 (2) In the event the violation constitutes an immediate danger to public health or 
public safety, the director of public works is authorized to enter upon the subject 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 2 

private property, without giving prior notice, to take any and all measures 
necessary to abate the violation and/or restore the property. The director of public 
works is authorized to seek costs of the abatement as outlined in subsection 22-
96(e).  

(b) Notice of violations.  Whenever the director of public works finds that a violation of this 
article has occurred, the director of public works may order compliance by written notice 
of violation. 
(1) The notice of violation shall contain: 

a. The name and address of the alleged violator;
b. The address when available or a description of the building, structure or

land upon which the violation is occurring, or has occurred;
c. A statement specifying the nature of the violation;
d. A description of the remedial measures necessary to restore compliance

with this article and a time schedule for the completion of such remedial
action;

e. A statement of the penalty or penalties that shall or may be assessed
against the person to whom the notice of violation is directed; and

f. A statement that the determination of violation may be appealed to the
director of public works by filing a written notice of appeal within thirty
(30) days of service of notice of violation.

(2) Such notice may require without limitation: 
a. The performance of monitoring, analyses, and reporting;
b. The elimination of illicit discharges and illegal connections;
c. That violating discharges, practices, or operations shall cease and desist;
d. The abatement or remediation of stormwater pollution or contamination

hazards and the restoration of any affected property;
e. Payment of costs to cover administrative and abatement costs; and,
f. The implementation of pollution prevention practices.

(c) Appeal of notice of violation.  Any person receiving a notice of violation may appeal the 
determination of the director of public works.  The notice of appeal must be received 
within thirty (30) days from the date of the notice of violation.  Hearing on the appeal 
before the mayor and city council of the director of public works or his/her designee shall 
take place within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of the notice of appeal.  The 
decision of the appropriate authority or their designee shall be final. 

(d) Enforcement measures after appeal.  If the violation has not been corrected pursuant to 
the requirements set forth in the notice of violation, or, in the event of an appeal within 
ten (10) days of the decision of the appropriate authority upholding the decision of the 
director of public works of the City of Clarkston, then representatives of the director of 
public works may enter upon the subject private property and are authorized to take any 
and all measures necessary to abate the violation and/or restore the property.  It shall be 
unlawful for any person, owner, agent or person in possession of any premises to refuse 
to allow the government agency or designated contractor to enter upon the premises for 
the purposes set forth above. 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 3 

(e) Cost of abatement of the violation. 
(1) Within thirty (30) working days after abatement of the violation, the owner of the 

property will be notified of the cost of abatement, including administrative costs.  
The property owner may file a written protest objecting to the assessment or to the 
amount of the assessment within five (5) days of such notice.  If the amount due is 
not paid within thirty (30) days after a decision on said appeal, the charges shall 
become a special assessment against the property and shall constitute a lien on the 
property for the amount of the assessment.    

(2) Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall become liable to 
the City of Clarkston by reason of such violation. 

(f) Civil penalties.  In the event the alleged violator fails to take the remedial measures set 
forth in the notice of violation or otherwise fails to cure the violations described therein 
within ten (10) days, or such greater period as the director of public works shall deem 
appropriate, after the director of public works has taken one (1) or more of the actions 
described above, the director of public works may impose a penalty not to exceed one 
thousand dollars ($1,000.00) (depending on the severity of the violation) for each day the 
violation remains unremedied after receipt of the notice of violation. 

(g) Criminal penalties.  For intentional and flagrant violations of this article, the police 
department of the City of Clarkston may issue a citation to the alleged violator requiring 
such person to appear in municipal court of the City of Clarkston to answer charges for 
such violation.  Upon conviction, such person shall be punished by a fine not to exceed 
one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or imprisonment for sixty (60) days or both.  Each act 
of violation and each day upon which any violation shall occur shall constitute a separate 
offense. 

(h) Violations deemed a public nuisance.  In addition to the enforcement processes and 
penalties provided, any condition caused or permitted to exist in violation of any of the 
provisions of this article is a threat to public health, safety, welfare, and environment and 
is declared and deemed a nuisance, and may be abated by injunctive or other equitable 
relief as provided by law. 

(i) Remedies not exclusive.   
(1) The remedies listed in this article are not exclusive of any other remedies 

available under any applicable federal, state or local law and the director of public 
works may seek cumulative remedies.    

(2) The City may recover attorney's fees, court costs, and other expenses associated 
with enforcement of this article, including sampling and monitoring expenses. 

(Ord. No. 338-A, § 1(Attach. § 7), 9-1-09) 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 4 

Tracking 
Enforcement of the Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers ordinance is 
shared between the Department of Public Works and the Department of Planning and 
Development Services.  A list of all identified violations and enforcement actions will be 
maintained.  The list will include pertinent information including: 

• Dates
− Violation reported/discovered
− Inspections and re-inspections
− Notice of violation issued
− Appeals, protests, communications

• Property
− Address / Location
− Owner / Operator

• Description of noncompliance
• Type of enforcement action

− Notice of violation
− Action by city

• Required timeframe to correct violation
• Final resolution

− Date
− Verification

Notice of violations provided to violators as well as any other correspondence will be maintained 
on file. 

Summary of enforcement measures 
The Department of Public Works will take primary responsibility for investigating and enforcing 
the ERP for any Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers violations not related 
to Soil and Erosion Control.  A summary of the enforcement process is contained herein: 

TABLE 1 ILLICIT DISCHARGE / ILLEGAL CONNECTION ENFORCEMENT TABLE 
Violations Action Required 

of Violator 
Enforcement Mechanisms Time to Complete 

Remediation 
Ordinance 

Section 

Illicit Discharge or 
Illegal Connection 

Elimination or 
cessation of 
violating 
discharges, 
practices, 
operations or 
illegal connection 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 5 

FIGURE 1 ILLICIT DISCHARGE / ILLEGAL CONNECTION ENFORCEMENT FLOW CHART 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 6 

SOIL EROSION, SEDIMENTATION AND POLLUTION CONTROL 

[CHAPTER 21] 

Purpose [Sec. 21-4(a)] 
Excessive soil erosion and resulting sedimentation can take place during land-disturbing 
activities if requirements of the Soil Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution Control Ordinance 
and the NPDES general permit are not met.  Therefore, plans for those land-disturbing activities 
which are not exempted by this ordinance shall contain provisions for application of soil erosion, 
sedimentation and pollution control measures and practices.  The provisions shall be 
incorporated into the erosion, sedimentation and pollution control plans.  Measures shall be 
installed to prevent or control erosion, sedimentation and pollution during all stages of any land-
disturbing activity in accordance with requirements of this ordinance and the NPDES general 
permit.  

Inspection and enforcement [Sec. 21-6] 
(a) The director of public works will periodically inspect the sites of land disturbing 

activities for which permits have been issued to determine if the activities are being 
conducted in accordance with the plan and if the measures required in the plan are 
effective in controlling erosion and sedimentation. Also, the local issuing authority shall 
regulate both primary, secondary and tertiary permittees as such terms are defined in the 
state general permit. Primary permittees shall be responsible for installation and 
maintenance of best management practices where the primary permittee is conducting 
land disturbing activities. Secondary permittees shall be responsible for installation and 
maintenance of best management practices where the secondary permittee is conducting 
land disturbing activities. Tertiary permittees shall be responsible for installation and 
maintenance where the tertiary permittee is conducting land disturbing activities. If, 
through inspection, it is deemed that a person engaged in land disturbing activities as 
defined herein has failed to comply with the approved plan, with permit conditions, or 
with the provisions of this chapter, a written notice to comply shall be served upon that 
person. The notice shall set forth the measures necessary to achieve compliance and shall 
state the time within which such measures must be completed. If the person engaged in 
the land disturbing activity fails to comply within the time specified, he shall be deemed 
in violation of this chapter. 

(b) The local issuing authority must amend its ordinances to the extent appropriate within 
twelve (12) months of any amendments to the Erosion and Sedimentation Act of 1975. 

(c) The director of public works shall have the power to conduct such investigations as it 
may reasonably deem necessary to carry out duties as prescribed in this chapter, and for 
this purpose to enter at reasonable times upon any property, public or private, for the 
purpose of investigation and inspecting the sites of land disturbing activities. 

(Ord. No. 347, § 1 (Attach. § VI), 9-7-10) 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 7 

Penalties and incentives [Sec. 21-7] 
The following enforcement mechanisms will be used in the event a person violates the Soil 
Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution Control ordinance.   

(a) Failure to obtain a permit for land disturbing activity.  If any person commences any 
land disturbing activity requiring a land disturbing permit as prescribed in this chapter 
without first obtaining said permit, the person shall be subject to revocation of his 
business license, work permit or other authorization for the conduct of a business and 
associated work activities within the jurisdictional boundaries of the local issuing 
authority.  

(b) Stop work orders. 
(1) For the first and second violations of the provisions of this chapter, the director or 

the local issuing authority shall issue a written warning to the violator. The 
violator shall have five (5) days to correct the violation. If the violation is not 
corrected within five (5) days, the director or the local issuing authority shall issue 
a stop work order requiring that land disturbing activities be stopped until 
necessary corrective action or mitigation has occurred; provided, however, that, if 
the violation presents an imminent threat to public health or waters of the state or 
if the land disturbing activities are conducted without obtaining the necessary 
permit, the director or the local issuing authority shall issue an immediate stop 
work order in lieu of a warning; 

(2) For a third and each subsequent violation, the director or the local issuing 
authority shall issue an immediate stop work order; and; 

(3) All stop work orders shall be effective immediately upon issuance and shall be in 
effect until the necessary corrective action or mitigation has occurred. 

(4) When a violation in the form of taking action without a permit, failure to maintain 
a stream buffer, or significant amounts of sediment, as determined by the local 
issuing authority or by the Director or his or her designee, have been or are being 
discharged into state waters and where best management practices have not been 
properly designed, installed, and maintained, a stop work order shall be issued by 
the local issuing authority or by the Director or his or her designee. All such stop 
work orders shall be effective immediately upon issuance and shall be in effect 
until the necessary corrective action or mitigation has occurred. Such stop work 
orders shall apply to all land disturbing activity on the site with the exception of 
the installation and maintenance of temporary or permanent erosion and sediment 
controls. 

(c) Bond forfeiture.  If, through inspection, it is determined that a person engaged in land 
disturbing activities has failed to comply with the approved plan, a written notice to 
comply shall be served upon that person. The notice shall set forth the measures 
necessary to achieve compliance with the plan and shall state the time within which such 
measures must be completed. If the person engaged in the land disturbing activity fails to 
comply within the time specified, he shall be deemed in violation of this chapter and, in 
addition to other penalties, shall be deemed to have forfeited his performance bond, if 
required to post one under the provisions of subsection 21-5(b)(6). The local issuing 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 8 

authority may call the bond or any part thereof to be forfeited and may use the proceeds 
to hire a contractor to stabilize the site of the land disturbing activity and bring it into 
compliance. 

(d) Monetary penalties. 
(1) Any person who violates any provisions of this chapter, or any permit condition 

or limitation established pursuant to this chapter, or who negligently or 
intentionally fails or refuses to comply with any final or emergency order of the 
Director issued as provided in this chapter shall be liable for a civil penalty not to 
exceed two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) per day. For the purpose of 
enforcing the provisions of this chapter, notwithstanding any provisions in any 
City Charter or any other provision of law to the contrary, the municipal courts 
shall be authorized to impose a civil penalty not to exceed two thousand five 
hundred dollars ($2,500.00) for each violation. Each day during which violation 
or failure or refusal to comply continues shall be a separate violation. 

(Ord. No. 347, § 1 (Attach. § VII), 9-7-10) 

Tracking 
Enforcement of the Soil Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution Control ordinance is shared 
between the Department of Public Works and the Department of Planning and Development 
Services.  The Department of Planning and Development Services will maintain a list of all 
identified violations and enforcement actions.  The list will include pertinent information 
including: 

• Dates
− Inspections and re-inspections
− Violation reported/discovered
− Notice of violation issued
− Stop work orders

• Land disturbance permit
− Address / location
− Owner / permit applicant

• Description of noncompliance
• Type of enforcement action

− Notice of violation
o First, second, or subsequent

− Stop work order
• Required timeframe to correct violation
• Final resolution

− Re-inspection date

Inspection reports and notice of violations provided to violators as well as any other 
correspondence will be maintained on file by the Department of Planning and Development 
Services. 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 9 

Summary of enforcement measures 
The Department of Planning and Development Services (Code Enforcement Officer) will take 
primary responsibility for investigating and enforcing the ERP for any Soil Erosion, 
Sedimentation and Pollution Control violations.  A summary of the enforcement process is 
contained herein: 

TABLE 2 SOIL EROSION, SEDIMENTATION AND POLLUTION CONTROL ENFORCEMENT TABLE 
Violations Action Required 

by Site 
Enforcement Mechanisms Time to Complete 

Remediation 
Ordinance 

Section 

No Level 1A 
on site 

Get a certified 
person on site as 
soon as possible 

Give a written warning for the 1st 
and 2nd offense.  For the 3rd  
offense a Stop Work is to be 
issued 

Work may resume once 
a Level 1A is on site 21-7 (b) 

No permit Stop work 
Post a Stop Work order, issue a 
site inspection form, and log into 
the E&S list 

Work may resume once 
a permit is granted 21-7 (a) 

Silt fence is 
more than 1/2 
full 

Remove the built 
up silt 

For the 1st and 2nd offense post a 
Notice of Violation. On the 3rd 
and subsequent offense post a 
stop work order. With each of 
these actions issue a site 
inspection form listing all 
violations with a time and date 
to complete remediation, and log 
into the E&S list 

This is to be completed 
by the end of the work 
day.  Special 
considerations can be 
made by the inspector, 
but in no case shall 
more than 24 hours be 
given for this repair as 
the contractor is to 
inspect E&S on a daily 
basis 

21-7 (b) 

Silt fence 
fabric is falling 

Replace silt fence 
and remove any 
built up silt 

For the 1st and 2nd offense post a 
Notice of Violation. On the 3rd 
and subsequent offense post a 
stop work order. With each of 
these actions issue a site 
inspection form listing all 
violations with a time and date 
to complete remediation, and log 
into the E&S list 

This is to be completed 
by the end of the work 
day.  Special 
considerations can be 
made by the inspector, 
but in no case shall 
more than 24 hours be 
given for this repair as 
the contractor is to 
inspect E&S on a daily 
basis 

21-7 (b) 

Construction 
exit not in 
place 

Immediately stop 
all site activity 
until the 
construction exit 
is in place.  No 
vehicles should 
leave the site 
unless the 
sediment is 
removed from 
their tires 

Post a Stop Work order, issue a 
site inspection form, and log into 
the E&S list 

24 hours at most as this 
is required maintenance 
and should be checked 
weekly by the site 

21-7 (b) 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 10 

Violations Action Required 
by Site 

Enforcement Mechanisms Time to Complete 
Remediation 

Ordinance 
Section 

Construction 
exit is in 
disrepair and 
tracking is 
occurring 

Maintain pad to 
original 
specifications 

For the 1st and 2nd offense post a 
Notice of Violation. On the 3rd 
and subsequent offense post a 
stop work order. With each of 
these actions issue a site 
inspection form listing all 
violations with a time and date 
to complete remediation, and log 
into the E&S list 

24 hours at most as this 
is required maintenance 
and should be checked 
weekly by the site 

21-7 (b) 

Inlet sediment 
trap not 
installed 
correctly 

Replace as 
specified on plans 

For the 1st and 2nd offense post a 
Notice of Violation. On the 3rd 
and subsequent offense post a 
stop work order. With each of 
these actions issue a site 
inspection form listing all 
violations with a time and date 
to complete remediation, and log 
into the E&S list 

24 hours 21-7 (b) 

Inlet sediment 
trap is more 
than half full 

Remove the built 
up silt 

For the 1st and 2nd offense post a 
Notice of Violation. On the 3rd 
and subsequent offense post a 
stop work order. With each of 
these actions issue a site 
inspection form listing all 
violations with a time and date 
to complete remediation, and log 
into the E&S list 

This is to be completed 
by the end of the work 
day.  Special 
considerations can be 
made by the inspector, 
but in no case shall 
more than 24 hours be 
given for this repair as 
the contractor is to 
inspect E&S on a daily 
basis 

21-7 (b) 

Failure to 
maintain a 
stream buffer 

Immediately stop 
all work in the 
buffer.  Take 
every action to 
repair the buffer.  
Replace double 
row of type C silt 
fence at the buffer 
to prevent future 
encroachments 

Post a Stop Work order, issue a 
site inspection form, and log into 
the E&S list 

As soon as possible, but 
not more than 24 hours 21-7 (b) 

Significant 
amounts of 
sediment 
leaving site 

Immediately stop 
work and clean up 
the sediment 
which has left the 
site.  Repair and 
update erosion 
control to prevent 
a future 
reoccurrence 

Post a Stop Work order, issue a 
site inspection form, and log into 
the E&S list 

As soon as possible, but 
not more than 24 hours 21-7 (b) 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 11 

Violations Action Required 
by Site 

Enforcement Mechanisms Time to Complete 
Remediation 

Ordinance 
Section 

An area has 
gone longer 
than 14 days 
without 
grading 

Stabilized site in 
accordance with 
site plan 

For the 1st and 2nd offense post a 
Notice of Violation. On the 3rd 
and subsequent offense post a 
stop work order. With each of 
these actions issue a site 
inspection form listing all 
violations with a time and date 
to complete remediation, and log 
into the E&S list 

48 hours 21-7 (b) 

Failure to 
maintain 
BMPs in 
accordance 
with the plans 
and the 
Georgia 
Manual For 
Erosion and 
Sediment 
Control 

Perform 
maintenance as 
outlined on the 
plans or the 
Georgia Manual 
For Erosion and 
Sediment Control 

For the 1st and 2nd offense post a 
Notice of Violation. On the 3rd 
and subsequent offense post a 
stop work order. With each of 
these actions issue a site 
inspection form listing all 
violations with a time and date 
to complete remediation, and log 
into the E&S list 

In no case shall more 
than 24 hours be given 
for actions requiring 
daily inspections 

21-7 (b) 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 12 

FIGURE 2 SOIL EROSION, SEDIMENTATION &POLLUTION CONTROL ENFORCEMENT FLOW CHART 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 13 

POSTDEVELOPMENT STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT 

AND REDEVELOPMENT 

[CHAPTER 22, ARTICLE I] 

Purpose [Sec. 22-1] 
The City of Clarkston, through the Postdevelopment Stormwater Management for New 
Development and Redevelopment ordinance, and through the ERP actions, seeks to protect, 
maintain and enhance the public health, safety, environment and general welfare by establishing 
minimum requirements and procedures to control the adverse effects of increased post-
development stormwater runoff and nonpoint source pollution associated with new development 
and redevelopment.  It has been determined that proper management of post-development 
stormwater runoff will minimize damage to public and private property and infrastructure, 
safeguard public health, safety, environment and general welfare of the public, and protect water 
resources.  

Designation of article administrator [Sec. 22-3] 
The director or public works or his designee (of the City of Clarkston) is hereby appointed to 
administer, implement and enforce the provisions of the Postdevelopment Stormwater 
Management for New Development and Redevelopment ordinance. 

Stormwater design manual [Sec. 22-5] 
The City of Clarkston will utilize the policy, criteria and information including technical 
specifications and standards in the latest edition of the Georgia Stormwater Management Manual 
and any relevant local addenda, for the proper implementation of the requirements of the 
Postdevelopment Stormwater Management for New Development and Redevelopment 
ordinance. 

Failure to maintain [Sec. 22-20] 
If a responsible person fails or refuses to meet the requirements of the inspection and 
maintenance agreement, the city, after thirty (30) days written notice (except, that in the event 
the violation constitutes an immediate danger to public health or public safety, twenty-four (24) 
hours' notice shall be sufficient), may correct a violation of the design standards or maintenance 
requirements by performing the necessary work to place the facility or practice in proper 
working condition. The city may assess the owner(s) of the facility for the cost of repair work 
which shall be a lien on the property, and may be placed on the ad valorum tax bill for such 
property and collected in the ordinary manner for such taxes. 

Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-21] 
The following enforcement mechanisms will be used in the event a person violates the 
Postdevelopment Stormwater Management for New Development and Redevelopment 
ordinance.   

(a) Any action or inaction which violates the provisions of this article or the requirements of 
an approved stormwater management plan or permit, may be subject to the enforcement 
actions outlined in this section. Any such action or inaction which is continuous with 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 14 

respect to time is deemed to be a public nuisance and may be abated by injunctive or 
other equitable relief. The imposition of any of the penalties described below shall not 
prevent such equitable relief.  

(b) Notice of violation.  If the city determines that an applicant or other responsible person 
has failed to comply with the terms and conditions of a permit, an approved stormwater 
management plan or the provisions of this article, it shall issue a written notice of 
violation to such applicant or other responsible person. Where a person is engaged in 
activity covered by this article without having first secured a permit therefor, the notice 
of violation shall be served on the owner or the responsible person in charge of the 
activity being conducted on the site. 

(c) The notice of violation shall contain: 
(1) The name and address of the owner or the applicant or the responsible person; 
(2) The address or other description of the site upon which the violation is occurring; 
(3) A statement specifying the nature of the violation; 
(4) A description of the remedial measures necessary to bring the action or inaction 

into compliance with the permit, the stormwater management plan or this article 
and the date for the completion of such remedial action; 

(5) A statement of the penalty or penalties that may be assessed against the person to 
whom the notice of violation is directed; and 

(6) A statement that the determination of violation may be appealed to the city by 
filing a written notice of appeal with thirty (30) days of service of notice of 
violation (except, that in the event the violation constitutes an immediate danger 
to public health or public safety, twenty-four (24) hours' notice shall be 
sufficient); 

(d) Penalties.  In the event the remedial measures described in the notice of violation have 
not been completed by the date set forth for such completion in the notice of violation, 
any one (1) or more of the following actions or penalties may be taken or assessed against 
the person to whom the notice of violation was directed. Before taking any of the 
following actions or imposing any of the following penalties, the city shall first notify the 
applicant or other responsible person in writing of its intended action, and shall provide a 
reasonable opportunity, of not less than ten (10) days (except, that in the event the 
violation constitutes an immediate danger to public health or public safety, twenty-four 
(24) hours' notice shall be sufficient) to cure such violation. In the event the applicant or 
other responsible person fails to cure such violation after such notice and cure period, the 
city may take any one (1) or more of the following actions or impose any one (1) or more 
of the following penalties. 
(1) Stop work order. The City of Clarkston may issue a stop work order which shall 

be served on the applicant or other responsible person. The stop work order shall 
remain in effect until the applicant or other responsible person has taken the 
remedial measures set forth in the notice of violation or has otherwise cured the 
violation or violations described therein, provided the stop work order may be 
withdrawn or modified to enable the applicant or other responsible person to take 
the necessary remedial measures to cure such violation or violations. 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 15 

(2) Withhold certificate of occupancy. The city may refuse to issue a certificate of 
occupancy for the building or other improvements constructed or being 
constructed on the site until the applicant or other responsible person has taken 
the remedial measures set forth in the notice of violation or has otherwise cured 
the violations described therein. 

(3) Suspension, revocation or modification of permit. The city may suspend, revoke 
or modify the permit authorizing the land development project. A suspended, 
revoked or modified permit may be reinstated after the applicant or other 
responsible person has taken the remedial measures set forth in the notice of 
violation or has otherwise cured the violations described therein, provided such 
permit may be reinstated [upon such conditions as the City of Clarkston may 
deem necessary] to enable the applicant or other responsible person to take the 
necessary remedial measures to cure such violations. 

(4) Civil penalties.  In the event the applicant or other such responsible person fails to 
take the remedial measures set forth in the notice of violation or otherwise fails to 
cure the violations described therein within ten (10) days, or such greater period 
as the city shall deem appropriate (except, that in the event the violation 
constitutes an immediate danger to public health or public safety, twenty-four (24) 
hours' notice shall be sufficient) after the city has taken one (1) or more of the 
actions described above, the city may impose a penalty not to exceed one 
thousand dollars ($1,000.00) (depending on the severity of the violation) for each 
day the violation remains unremedied after receipt of the notice of violation. 

(5) Criminal penalties.  For intentional and flagrant violations of this article, the city 
may issue a citation to the applicant or other such responsible person, requiring 
such person to appear in city court to answer charges for such violation.  Upon 
conviction, such person shall be punished by a fine not to exceed one thousand 
dollars ($1,000.00) or imprisonment for sixty (60) days or both.  Each act of 
violation and each day upon which any violation shall occur shall constitute a 
separate offense. 

 (Ord. No. 295, § 1, 9-6-05) 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 16 

Tracking 
Enforcement of the Postdevelopment Stormwater Management for New Development and 
Redevelopment ordinance is shared between the Department of Public Works and the 
Department of Planning and Development Services.  A list of all identified violations and 
enforcement actions will be maintained.  The list will include pertinent information including: 

• Dates
− Violation reported/discovered
− Inspections and re-inspections
− Notice of violation issued
− Appeals, protests, communications

• Property
− Address / Location
− Owner / Permit Applicant

• Description of noncompliance
• Type of enforcement action

− Notice of violation
− Action by city

• Required timeframe to correct violation
• Final resolution

− Date
− Verification

Notice of violations provided to violators as well as any other correspondence will be maintained 
on file. 

Summary of enforcement measures 
The Department of Planning and Development Services (Code Enforcement Officer) will take 
primary responsibility for investigating and enforcing the ERP for any Postdevelopment 
Stormwater Management for New Development and Redevelopment violations.  A summary of 
the enforcement process is contained herein: 

TABLE 3 POSTDEVELOPMENT STORMWATER MANAGEMENT ENFORCEMENT TABLE 
Violations Action Required 

by Site 
Action Required by 

Inspector 
Time to Complete 

Remediation 
Ordinance 

Section 

Dam, Side Slopes, 
Pond floor, Outlet 
Structure, Emergency 
Spillway, Outfalls 
into Detention Pond, 
Sediment Forebay, 
and Trash/Debris 

Correct the 
deficiency noted 
during inspection 

If a deficiency exists, the 
owner of the structure will be 
issued a Notice of Violation 
(NOV). If the deficiency 
remains unresolved, the City 
may issue a stop work order, 
refuse certificate of 
occupancy, 
suspend/revoke/modify 
permit, correct the 
deficiency, or fine the 
violator $1,000 per day 

Time schedule for 
completion varies 
and is specified in 

the Notice of 
Violation 

22-21 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 17 

FIGURE 3 POSTDEVELOPMENT STORMWATER MANAGEMENT ENFORCEMENT FLOW CHART 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 18 

SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL / OFFENSES AGAINST PUBLIC HEALTH 
[CHAPTER 19, ARTICLE III / CHAPTER 12, ARTICLE V] 

Purpose 
The purpose of these ordinances is to protect the public health, safety, environment and general 
welfare through the regulation and prevention of litter.  The City of Clarkston’s Solid Waste 
Disposal ordinance and Offenses Against Public Health ordinance include regulations for 
litter/garbage disposal.  Trash and litter can ultimately reach streams and water bodies by way of 
contaminating stormwater runoff.  These substances could potentially degrade water and aquatic 
resources. 

Applicability [Sec. 19-51] 
This chapter applies to the preparation and storage, collection, transportation and disposal of all 
refuse in the area under jurisdiction of the city as presently or hereafter established. It prescribes 
rules and regulations therefor, regulates the private collection of garbage and refuse, provides for 
the licensing and regulation of private garbage and refuse collection, prescribing rules and 
regulations for hauling garbage, refuse and other waste material within or through the city, and 
prohibits the deposit of litter within the city limits of the City of Clarkston.  

(Ord. No. 185, 9-7-93) 

Disposal of refuse and garbage generally [Sec. 19-53] 
(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to dump or to cause to be dumped any garbage, refuse, 

litter, junk, appliances, equipment, cans, bottles, paper, lumber, trees, tree limbs, brush or 
parts thereof anywhere in the city except as may be permitted by city regulations. 

(b) The provisions of subsection (a) of this section do not apply to the dumping on private 
property with the owner's permission of sand, dirt, broken blocks, broken pavement or 
other suitable material for use as a fill to raise the elevation of the land, provided it is not 
maintained in an unsightly condition and provided the owner or owners of the property 
on which such material is dumped agrees to level such dumped material with appropriate 
grading equipment and assess the cost thereof against the real property on which such 
material was dumped. 

(c) If any of the matter or material dumped in violation of the provisions of subsection (a) of 
this section can be identified as having last belonged to, been in the possession of, sent to 
or received by, or to have been the property of any person prior to its being dumped as 
prohibited therein, this identification shall be presumed to be prima facie evidence that 
the owner dumped or caused to be dumped such matter and material in violation of this 
chapter. 

(d) For information leading to the arrest and conviction of any person violating the 
provisions of this chapter or the provisions of any state law prohibiting the dumping of 
garbage, refuse or litter on any public or private property within the city, the city council 
shall pay a reward in the amount established by action of the city council, a copy of 
which is on file in the office of the city clerk, to the person furnishing such information 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 19 

leading to such arrest and conviction and such monies as may be a necessary cost of the 
operation and administration of the city government. 

(Ord. No. 185, 9-7-93) 

Waste and disposal thereof [Sec. 12-52] 
(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to throw or deposit any slops, garbage, or filth of any 

kind into any street, or other public or private place. 
(b) It shall be unlawful for any person to throw or deposit upon the streets or other public 

places, or on private property without the consent of the owner, except at such places as 
may be properly designated by the city, any glass, broken ware, dirt, paper, rubbish, 
garbage, or filth or any kind. 

(c) It shall be unlawful to set on fire any leaves, rubbish, or trash of any kind anywhere 
within the city. 

(d) It shall be unlawful for any person to deposit offal or dead animals at any place within the 
city. 

(e) It shall be unlawful for any person to place any gutter or spout so as to convey filth from 
kitchens or elsewhere into any street of the city. 

(f) It shall be unlawful for any person to use the streets, sidewalks, or gutters as a means of 
drainage to carry off any used and dirty water or other filthy fluids. 

(g) It shall be unlawful for any person to throw or discharge from any lot or building any 
water, fluid, or liquid substance so as to injuriously affect the surface of any city street or 
sidewalk so as to make it unsafe for travel. 

(h) It shall be unlawful for any person within the city to allow waste water from washing cars 
or from other sources to run across the sidewalk, and such person shall provide an 
adequate means of disposal thereof. Operations of filling stations may not wash their 
premises between the hours of 7:30 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. 

(i) It shall be unlawful to sweep or push litter from sidewalks into the streets. Such litter 
shall be deposited in a proper receptacle which shall be covered to prevent scattering by 
wind and animal. 

(j) It shall be unlawful for any person to haul or transport for any distance any dirt, soil, 
sand, rubbish or other material, over or upon or in the streets of the city, in any wagon, 
cart, wheelbarrow, truck, or other vehicle from which such dirt, soil, sand, rubbish, or any 
like substance escapes or leaks. 

For the purposes of this section, every tenant or occupant of a house or other premises, opposite 
or nearest to which such garbage, slops or filth may be found, shall be presumed to be the 
offender. 

(Ord. No. 280, § 1, 3-2-04) 

General penalty; continuing violations [Sec. 1-7] 
Whenever in this Code or in any ordinance or resolution of the city, or rule or regulation or order 
promulgated by any officer or agency of the city under authority duly vested in such officer or 
agency, any act is prohibited or is made or declared to be unlawful or an offense or a 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 20 

misdemeanor, or wherever the doing of any act is required or the failure to do any act is declared 
to be unlawful or an offence or a misdemeanor, and no specific penalty is provided therefor and 
not otherwise limited by law, the violation of any such provision of this Code or any ordinance, 
resolution, rule, regulation or order, shall be punished by a fine not exceeding one thousand 
dollars ($1,000.00) or by imprisonment not exceeding six (6) months or by work on the city 
work gang not exceeding six (6) months or by any combination of such punishments. Each day 
any violation of any provision of this Code or of any such ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation 
or order shall continue shall constitute a separate offense. 

Any such punishment shall not preclude the enforced abatement of a prohibited condition, or the 
pursuit of any other lawful remedy by the city. 

(Ord. No. 267a, § 2, 3-4-03) 

Tracking 
Enforcement of the Solid Waste Disposal and Offenses Against Public Health ordinances is 
shared between the Department of Public Works and the Department of Planning and 
Development Services.  A list of all identified violations and enforcement actions will be 
maintained.  The list will include pertinent information including: 

• Dates
− Violation reported/discovered
− Inspections and re-inspections

• Property
− Address / Location
− Owner

• Description of violation
• Type of punishment

− Fine
− Imprisonment
− Work on city work gang

• Final resolution
− Date
− Verification

Inspection reports and citations of violators as well as any other correspondence will be 
maintained on file. 

Summary of enforcement measures 
The Department of Planning and Development Services (Code Enforcement Officer) will take 
primary responsibility for investigating and enforcing the ERP for any Litter violations.  A 
summary of the enforcement process is contained herein: 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 21 

TABLE 4 LITTER ENFORCEMENT TABLE 
Violations Action Required 

by Site 
Enforcement Mechanisms Time to Complete 

Remediation 
Ordinance 

Section 

Littering, dumping, 
depositing on or in the 
premises of another, 
streets, streams, lakes, 
including public or 
private waters 

Correct violation 

Issue a citation; fine the 
violator a maximum $1,000 
per day, or imprisonment not 
exceeding six (6) months or 
by work on the city work 
gang not exceeding six (6) 
months or any combination 
thereof 

Immediately 1-7 

HIGHLY VISIBLE POLLUTANT SOURCES (HVPS) 

Purpose 
The City has an HVPS inventory and is required by the permit to inspect 100% of these facilities 
over the course of the permit.  The City uses an EPD approved site inspection form to complete 
these inspections.  The inspections look for any possible illicit discharges, improper on site 
storage of liquids or any other poor housekeeping procedures: 

Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames 
The following enforcement mechanisms will be used in the event a person violates the Illicit 
Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers ordinance at an HVPS site: 

(a) Violations. 
(1) It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any provision or fail to comply with 

any of the requirements of this article. Any person who has violated or continues 
to violate the provisions of this article, may be subject to the enforcement actions 
outlined in this section or may be restrained by injunction or otherwise abated in a 
manner provided by law.  

 (2) In the event the violation constitutes an immediate danger to public health or 
public safety, the director of public works is authorized to enter upon the subject 
private property, without giving prior notice, to take any and all measures 
necessary to abate the violation and/or restore the property. The director of public 
works is authorized to seek costs of the abatement as outlined in subsection 22-
96(e).  

(b) Notice of violations.  Whenever the director of public works finds that a violation of this 
article has occurred, the director of public works may order compliance by written notice 
of violation. 
(1) The notice of violation shall contain: 

a. The name and address of the alleged violator;
b. The address when available or a description of the building, structure or

land upon which the violation is occurring, or has occurred;
c. A statement specifying the nature of the violation;



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 22 

d. A description of the remedial measures necessary to restore compliance
with this article and a time schedule for the completion of such remedial
action;

e. A statement of the penalty or penalties that shall or may be assessed
against the person to whom the notice of violation is directed; and

f. A statement that the determination of violation may be appealed to the
director of public works by filing a written notice of appeal within thirty
(30) days of service of notice of violation.

(2) Such notice may require without limitation: 
a. The performance of monitoring, analyses, and reporting;
b. The elimination of illicit discharges and illegal connections;
c. That violating discharges, practices, or operations shall cease and desist;
d. The abatement or remediation of stormwater pollution or contamination

hazards and the restoration of any affected property;
e. Payment of costs to cover administrative and abatement costs; and,
f. The implementation of pollution prevention practices.

(c) Appeal of notice of violation.  Any person receiving a notice of violation may appeal the 
determination of the director of public works.  The notice of appeal must be received 
within thirty (30) days from the date of the notice of violation.  Hearing on the appeal 
before the mayor and city council of the director of public works or his/her designee shall 
take place within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of the notice of appeal.  The 
decision of the appropriate authority or their designee shall be final. 

(d) Enforcement measures after appeal.  If the violation has not been corrected pursuant to 
the requirements set forth in the notice of violation, or, in the event of an appeal within 
ten (10) days of the decision of the appropriate authority upholding the decision of the 
director of public works of the City of Clarkston, then representatives of the director of 
public works may enter upon the subject private property and are authorized to take any 
and all measures necessary to abate the violation and/or restore the property.  It shall be 
unlawful for any person, owner, agent or person in possession of any premises to refuse 
to allow the government agency or designated contractor to enter upon the premises for 
the purposes set forth above. 

(e) Cost of abatement of the violation. 
(1) Within thirty (30) working days after abatement of the violation, the owner of the 

property will be notified of the cost of abatement, including administrative costs.  
The property owner may file a written protest objecting to the assessment or to the 
amount of the assessment within five (5) days of such notice.  If the amount due is 
not paid within thirty (30) days after a decision on said appeal, the charges shall 
become a special assessment against the property and shall constitute a lien on the 
property for the amount of the assessment.    

(2) Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall become liable to 
the City of Clarkston by reason of such violation. 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 23 

(f) Civil penalties.  In the event the alleged violator fails to take the remedial measures set 
forth in the notice of violation or otherwise fails to cure the violations described therein 
within ten (10) days, or such greater period as the director of public works shall deem 
appropriate, after the director of public works has taken one (1) or more of the actions 
described above, the director of public works may impose a penalty not to exceed one 
thousand dollars ($1,000.00) (depending on the severity of the violation) for each day the 
violation remains unremedied after receipt of the notice of violation. 

(g) Criminal penalties.  For intentional and flagrant violations of this article, the police 
department of the City of Clarkston may issue a citation to the alleged violator requiring 
such person to appear in municipal court of the City of Clarkston to answer charges for 
such violation.  Upon conviction, such person shall be punished by a fine not to exceed 
one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or imprisonment for sixty (60) days or both.  Each act 
of violation and each day upon which any violation shall occur shall constitute a separate 
offense. 

(h) Violations deemed a public nuisance.  In addition to the enforcement processes and 
penalties provided, any condition caused or permitted to exist in violation of any of the 
provisions of this article is a threat to public health, safety, welfare, and environment and 
is declared and deemed a nuisance, and may be abated by injunctive or other equitable 
relief as provided by law. 

(i) Remedies not exclusive.   
(1) The remedies listed in this article are not exclusive of any other remedies 

available under any applicable federal, state or local law and the director of public 
works may seek cumulative remedies.    

(2) The City may recover attorney's fees, court costs, and other expenses associated 
with enforcement of this article, including sampling and monitoring expenses. 

(Ord. No. 338-A, § 1(Attach. § 7), 9-1-09) 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 24 

Tracking 
Enforcement of the Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers ordinance is 
shared between the Department of Public Works and the Department of Planning and 
Development Services.  A list of all identified violations and enforcement actions will be 
maintained.  The list will include pertinent information including: 

• Dates
− Violation reported/discovered
− Inspections and re-inspections
− Notice of violation issued
− Appeals, protests, communications

• Property
− Address / Location
− Owner / Operator

• Description of noncompliance
• Type of enforcement action

− Notice of violation
− Action by city

• Required timeframe to correct violation
• Final resolution

− Date
− Verification

Notice of violations provided to violators as well as any other correspondence will be maintained 
on file. 

Summary of enforcement measures 
The Department of Public Works will take primary responsibility for investigating and enforcing 
the ERP for any Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers violations at HVPS 
sites.  A summary of the enforcement process is contained herein: 

TABLE 5 HVPS INSPECTIONS ENFORCEMENT TABLE 
Violations Action Required 

of Violator 
Enforcement Mechanisms Time to Complete 

Remediation 
Ordinance 

Section 

Illicit Discharge 

Elimination or 
cessation of 
violating 
discharges, 
practices, or 
operations 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 25 

Violations Action Required 
of Violator 

Enforcement Mechanisms Time to Complete 
Remediation 

Ordinance 
Section 

Illegal Connection Removal of illegal 
connection 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 

Open, Unmarked 
and/or Leaking 
Container(s) of 
Hazardous Material 

Place Potential 
Stormwater 
Pollutants in 
Proper Storage 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 

Inadequate or 
Inaccessible Spill 
Response Equipment 

Obtain Absorbent 
Material or 
Emergency Spill 
Kit 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 

Improper Outdoor 
Storage of Potential 
Stormwater 
Pollutants 

Place Potential 
Stormwater 
Pollutants in 
Proper Storage 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 26 

FIGURE 4 ILLICIT DISCHARGE / ILLEGAL CONNECTION ENFORCEMENT FLOW CHART 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 27 

INDUSTRIAL FACILITY STORM WATER DISCHARGE CONTROL 

Purpose 
The City has an Industrial facility inventory and is required by the permit to inspect 100% of 
these facilities over the course of the permit.  The City uses an EPD approved site inspection 
form to complete these inspections.  The inspections look for any possible illicit discharges, 
improper on site storage of liquids or any other poor housekeeping procedures: 

Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames 
The following enforcement mechanisms will be used in the event a person violates the Illicit 
Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers ordinance at an Industrial facility: 

(a) Violations. 
(1) It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any provision or fail to comply with 

any of the requirements of this article. Any person who has violated or continues 
to violate the provisions of this article, may be subject to the enforcement actions 
outlined in this section or may be restrained by injunction or otherwise abated in a 
manner provided by law.  

 (2) In the event the violation constitutes an immediate danger to public health or 
public safety, the director of public works is authorized to enter upon the subject 
private property, without giving prior notice, to take any and all measures 
necessary to abate the violation and/or restore the property. The director of public 
works is authorized to seek costs of the abatement as outlined in subsection 22-
96(e).  

(b) Notice of violations.  Whenever the director of public works finds that a violation of this 
article has occurred, the director of public works may order compliance by written notice 
of violation. 
(1) The notice of violation shall contain: 

a. The name and address of the alleged violator;
b. The address when available or a description of the building, structure or

land upon which the violation is occurring, or has occurred;
c. A statement specifying the nature of the violation;
d. A description of the remedial measures necessary to restore compliance

with this article and a time schedule for the completion of such remedial
action;

e. A statement of the penalty or penalties that shall or may be assessed
against the person to whom the notice of violation is directed; and

f. A statement that the determination of violation may be appealed to the
director of public works by filing a written notice of appeal within thirty
(30) days of service of notice of violation.

(2) Such notice may require without limitation: 
a. The performance of monitoring, analyses, and reporting;
b. The elimination of illicit discharges and illegal connections;
c. That violating discharges, practices, or operations shall cease and desist;



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 28 

d. The abatement or remediation of stormwater pollution or contamination
hazards and the restoration of any affected property;

e. Payment of costs to cover administrative and abatement costs; and,
f. The implementation of pollution prevention practices.

(c) Appeal of notice of violation.  Any person receiving a notice of violation may appeal the 
determination of the director of public works.  The notice of appeal must be received 
within thirty (30) days from the date of the notice of violation.  Hearing on the appeal 
before the mayor and city council of the director of public works or his/her designee shall 
take place within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of the notice of appeal.  The 
decision of the appropriate authority or their designee shall be final. 

(d) Enforcement measures after appeal.  If the violation has not been corrected pursuant to 
the requirements set forth in the notice of violation, or, in the event of an appeal within 
ten (10) days of the decision of the appropriate authority upholding the decision of the 
director of public works of the City of Clarkston, then representatives of the director of 
public works may enter upon the subject private property and are authorized to take any 
and all measures necessary to abate the violation and/or restore the property.  It shall be 
unlawful for any person, owner, agent or person in possession of any premises to refuse 
to allow the government agency or designated contractor to enter upon the premises for 
the purposes set forth above. 

(e) Cost of abatement of the violation. 
(1) Within thirty (30) working days after abatement of the violation, the owner of the 

property will be notified of the cost of abatement, including administrative costs.  
The property owner may file a written protest objecting to the assessment or to the 
amount of the assessment within five (5) days of such notice.  If the amount due is 
not paid within thirty (30) days after a decision on said appeal, the charges shall 
become a special assessment against the property and shall constitute a lien on the 
property for the amount of the assessment.    

(2) Any person violating any of the provisions of this article shall become liable to 
the City of Clarkston by reason of such violation. 

(f) Civil penalties.  In the event the alleged violator fails to take the remedial measures set 
forth in the notice of violation or otherwise fails to cure the violations described therein 
within ten (10) days, or such greater period as the director of public works shall deem 
appropriate, after the director of public works has taken one (1) or more of the actions 
described above, the director of public works may impose a penalty not to exceed one 
thousand dollars ($1,000.00) (depending on the severity of the violation) for each day the 
violation remains unremedied after receipt of the notice of violation. 

(g) Criminal penalties.  For intentional and flagrant violations of this article, the police 
department of the City of Clarkston may issue a citation to the alleged violator requiring 
such person to appear in municipal court of the City of Clarkston to answer charges for 
such violation.  Upon conviction, such person shall be punished by a fine not to exceed 
one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or imprisonment for sixty (60) days or both.  Each act 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 29 

of violation and each day upon which any violation shall occur shall constitute a separate 
offense. 

(h) Violations deemed a public nuisance.  In addition to the enforcement processes and 
penalties provided, any condition caused or permitted to exist in violation of any of the 
provisions of this article is a threat to public health, safety, welfare, and environment and 
is declared and deemed a nuisance, and may be abated by injunctive or other equitable 
relief as provided by law. 

(i) Remedies not exclusive.   
(1) The remedies listed in this article are not exclusive of any other remedies 

available under any applicable federal, state or local law and the director of public 
works may seek cumulative remedies.    

(2) The City may recover attorney's fees, court costs, and other expenses associated 
with enforcement of this article, including sampling and monitoring expenses. 

(Ord. No. 338-A, § 1(Attach. § 7), 9-1-09) 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 30 

Tracking 
Enforcement of the Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers ordinance is 
shared between the Department of Public Works and the Department of Planning and 
Development Services.  A list of all identified violations and enforcement actions will be 
maintained.  The list will include pertinent information including: 

• Dates
− Violation reported/discovered
− Inspections and re-inspections
− Notice of violation issued
− Appeals, protests, communications

• Property
− Address / Location
− Owner / Operator

• Description of noncompliance
• Type of enforcement action

− Notice of violation
− Action by city

• Required timeframe to correct violation
• Final resolution

− Date
− Verification

Notice of violations provided to violators as well as any other correspondence will be maintained 
on file. 

Summary of enforcement measures 
The Department of Public Works will take primary responsibility for investigating and enforcing 
the ERP for any Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers violations at 
Industrial facilities.  A summary of the enforcement process is contained herein: 

TABLE 6 INDUSTRIAL FACILITY INSPECTION ENFORCEMENT TABLE 
Violations Action Required 

of Violator 
Enforcement Mechanisms Time to Complete 

Remediation 
Ordinance 

Section 

Illicit Discharge 

Elimination or 
cessation of 
violating 
discharges, 
practices, or 
operations 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 31 

Violations Action Required 
of Violator 

Enforcement Mechanisms Time to Complete 
Remediation 

Ordinance 
Section 

Illegal Connection Removal of illegal 
connection 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 

Open, Unmarked 
and/or Leaking 
Container(s) of 
Hazardous Material 

Place Potential 
Stormwater 
Pollutants in 
Proper Storage 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 

Inadequate or 
Inaccessible Spill 
Response Equipment 

Obtain Absorbent 
Material or 
Emergency Spill 
Kit 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 

Improper Outdoor 
Storage of Potential 
Stormwater 
Pollutants 

Place Potential 
Stormwater 
Pollutants in 
Proper Storage 

Issue notice of violation 
(NOV). If violation is not 
corrected in accordance with 
the NOV, the City will take 
any and all measures 
necessary to correct the 
violation and impose 
appropriate penalties 

Not specified 22-96 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 32 

FIGURE 5 ILLICIT DISCHARGE / ILLEGAL CONNECTION ENFORCEMENT FLOW CHART 



ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE PLAN 

Page 33 

CONCLUSION 
Clarkston has a complaint form located on the City’s website for citizens to report any suspected 
water quality complaints and erosion and sedimentation issues.  Complaints with photos can be 
emailed directly from the website or called into the City.  Once the complaint has been received, 
the Clarkston Code Enforcement Officer is responsible for investigating the complaint and taking 
appropriate action per the procedures in the Enforcement Response Plan.   

If a violation has occurred, the violation and subsequent actions will be documented on the 
tracking list maintained by the Code Enforcement Officer.  Each violation or complaint on the 
list will be tracked until the violation has been corrected. 



Green Infrastructure/Low Impact 
Development Program 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
Phase I Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System 

Permit 



1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. Background .................................................................................................................................... 2
2. Phase I Permit Requirements ......................................................................................................... 2

2.1  Table 2.1 GI/LID Program Elements ..................................................................................... 2 
3. Green Infrastructure/Low Impact Development Practices/Structures ........................................... 4

3.1  Table 3.1 GI/LID Practices and Structures ............................................................................ 4 
3.2  Procedures for Evaluating GI/LID Practices and Structures .................................................. 5 

4. Inspection and Maintenance .......................................................................................................... 6
4.1  Inspection ............................................................................................................................... 6 
4.2  Evaluating Effectiveness of BMPs ......................................................................................... 6 
4.3  Maintenance ........................................................................................................................... 6 
4.4  Table 4.3 GI/LID Maintenance Activities .............................................................................. 6 
4.5  References .............................................................................................................................. 8 



2 

1. BACKGROUND

As required in the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Phase I Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) permit effective June 11, 2014, the City of Clarkston (City) 
must develop a Green Infrastructure (GI)/Low Impact Development (LID) program to further 
encourage, and track the use of GI/LID stormwater best management practices (BMPs).  The 
purpose of this program will be to describe the City’s procedures for evaluating the feasibility and 
site applicability of different GI/LID techniques and practices.  The program will also highlight 
which GI/LID practices/structures the City already implements or would consider.  Finally, the 
program will describe how the City will inspect and maintain GI/LID structures. 

The City is located in DeKalb County and is 1.1 square miles in size.  The City sits along the Eastern 
Continental Divide and is surrounded by Atlanta, Decatur and Stone Mountain.  South Fork 
Peachtree Creek is the only major stream that flows through the City. 

2. PHASE I PERMIT REQUIREMENTS

The City’s Phase I MS4 permit describes in detail what is expected of the City when reporting on its 
GI/LID activities.  Table 2.1 below outlines the GI/LID program elements within the permit. 

2.1 Table 2.1 GI/LID Program Elements 

GI/LID Program Elements  Measurable Goals 

1. Legal Authority
1.a. Evaluate, and if necessary, modify existing ordinance(s).  If 
the ordinance(s) are revised during the reporting period, submit 
a copy of the adopted ordinance(s) with the annual report. 

2. GI/LID Program

2.a. Develop a program describing the GI/LID techniques and 
practices to be implemented by the permittee.  The program 
shall include procedures for evaluating the feasibility and site 
applicability of different GI/LID techniques and practices, and 
various structures and practices to be considered.  The program 
must be submitted to EPD for review with the 2016‐2017 
annual report, due June 15, 2017. Upon approval, the program 
will become a part of the SWMP. 

3. GI/LID Structure
Inventory 

3.a. Develop an inventory of privately owned non‐residential 
and publicly owned water quality‐related GI/LID structures 
located within the permittee’s jurisdiction and at a minimum, 
constructed after the effective date of the permit, including the 
total number of each type of structure.  Provide the inventory 
with the 2016‐2017 annual report, due June 15, 2017. 

3.b. Track the addition of new water quality related GI/LID 
structures through the plan review process and ensure the 
structures are added to the inventory.  Provide an updated 
inventory in each annual report, beginning with the 2017‐2018 
annual report, due June 15, 2018. 



3 

4. Inspection Program

4.a. Conduct inspections and/or ensure that inspections are 
conducted on 100% of the total privately owned non‐residential 
and publicly owned GI/LID structures within a 5‐year period, 
beginning in June 2017.  Provide the number and/or percentage 
of the total structures inspected during the reporting period in 
each annual report 

4.b. Conduct maintenance on the publicly owned GI/LID 
structures, as needed, beginning in June 2017.  Provide the 
number and/or percentage of the total structures maintained 
during the reporting period in each annual report. 

4.c. Develop procedures for ensuring privately‐owned non‐
residential GI/LID structures are maintained as needed.  Provide 
the procedures to EPD for review with the 2016‐2017 annual 
report, due June 15, 2017.  Upon EPD approval, implement the 
procedures and provide documentation in each subsequent 
annual report. 



4 

3. GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE/LOW IMPACT DEVELOPMENT
PRACTICES/STRUCTURES

The City has identified three practices and five structures, outlined in Table 3.1, which would 
compose the City’s GI/LID Program and inventory.   This inventory will contain all publicly owned 
and non-residential GI/LID structures constructed after June 11, 2014.  The inventory includes 
bioswales, pervious pavements, rain gardens, green roofs and cisterns.  These have been outlined in 
further detail in Table 3.1 below.  Additionally, any other structure/practice deemed appropriate by 
the Stormwater Coordinator may be included.  The initial inventory will be reported in a table format 
that will include the following information: 

 Type of Structure
 Location of Structure (Latitude & Longitude)
 Date Constructed
 Ownership (Private or Public)

In addition to the type and location of each structure, the table will also include a summary of the 
total number of each structure.  In the future, all new structures identified during the plan review 
process shall be added to the inventory.  An updated inventory will be included with each annual 
report.   

3.1 Table 3.1 GI/LID Practices and Structures 

Structure  Practice  Description 

Bioswales  Infiltration 

Bioswales are vegetated, mulched, or xeriscaped channels that provide 
treatments and retention as they move stomwater from one place to 
another.  Vegetated swales slow, infiltrate, and filter stormwater 
flows.  As linear features, they are particularly well suited to being 
placed along streets and parking lots. (“What is Green Infrastructure,” 
2016) 

Pervious Pavements  Infiltration 

Pervious pavement is a special mixture with a high void space that 
allows water to infiltrate into the subsoil through the pavement 
surface and base layers.  This aggregate base layer acts as both a 
structural layer and a container to temporarily hold stormwater runoff 
until it can infiltrate into subsoil or drainage system.  (“Georgia 
Stomwater Management Manual,” 2016) 

Rain Gardens  Filtration 

Rain gardens are versatile features that can be installed in almost any 
unpaved space.  These structures are also known as bioretention, or 
bioinfiltration cells.  They are typically shallow, vegetated basins that 
collect and absorb runoff from rooftops, sidewalks, and streets.  This 
practices mimics natural hydrology by infiltrating, and evaporating and 
transpiring – or “evapotranspiring” – stomwater runoff. (“What is 
Green Infrastructure,” 2016)  



5 

Structure  Practice  Description 

Green Roofs  Filtration 

Green roofs are covered with growing media and vegetation that 
enable rainfall infiltration and evapotranspiration of stored water.  
They are particularly cost‐effective in dense urban areas where land 
values are high and on large industrial or office buildings where 
stormwater management costs are likely to be high. (“What is Green 
Infrastructure,” 2016) 

Cisterns  Rainwater 
Harvesting 

Cisterns are watertight receptacles to catch and store stormwater off 
of roofs and other impervious surfaces.  Cisterns are often large and 
can be located underground, at ground level, or on an elevated stand. 
(“Types of Green Infrastructure,” 2017) 

3.2 Procedures for Evaluating GI/LID Practices and Structures 

As required in the NPDES Phase I MS4 permit effective June 11, 2014, the City must include 
procedures for evaluating the feasibility and site applicability of different GI/LID techniques and 
practices, and various structure and practices to be considered.  These procedures will include the 
use of the requirements of the Metropolitan North Georgia Water Planning District and Georgia 
Stormwater Management Manual (GSMM) as adopted by reference.  By no means is the City 
requiring future development to incorporate GI/LID structures and techniques.  The City encourages 
the use of GI/LID, but understands that GI/LID structures are not always the most feasible option 
(e.g. unsuitable soils, project cost, and property size limitation). 

It is the City’s understanding that the NPDES Permit will expire and be reissued in 2019.  At that 
time, the Permit wording will be revised to clarify that the MS4 must address runoff reduction with 
GI/LID first before any traditional post-construction practices and structures can be considered.  In 
Appendix B, a flow chart has been developed to determine the feasibility of using GI/LID practices.  
Once the permit has been reissued, the City will begin to use this feasibility flow chart during the 
site plan review stage.   



6 

4. INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE

4.1 Inspection 

As directed by GAEPD, the City will inspect 100 percent of its public and non-residential GI/LID 
within the 5-year reporting period..  The inspection checklists provided in the latest edition of the 
Georgia Stormwater Management Manual (GSMM) will be used during the inspection process.  
Inspection checklists used to inspect each structure during the reporting period will be provided in 
each annual report.  An example of the inspection checklists have been provided in Appendix A. 

4.2 Evaluating Effectiveness of BMPs 

During the inspection process all implemented BMPs will be evaluated for effectiveness.  Using the 
approved checklist for each BMP, the inspector will evaluate if the BMP is operating as it was 
designed.  If the inspector determines that the BMP is not operating properly, then a maintenance 
recommendation will be made.  Section 4.3 outlines the maintenance protocol the City will use for 
both public and private non-residential BMPs. 

4.3 Maintenance 

Like all stormwater infrastructure, green infrastructure requires regular inspections and maintenance 
to assure proper function.  Appropriate operation and maintenance activities ensure that green 
infrastructure will continue to function properly and produce expected water quality and 
environment benefits, protect public safety, meet legal standards, and protect the City’s financial 
investment.  The City is responsible for maintenance of all public (owned by the City) GI/LID 
structures.  At this time the City intends on using the Post-Construction ordinance to enforce 
maintenance requirements of GI/LID structures that are considered non-residential.  It is the 
responsibility of the property owner to maintain all GI/LID structures considered private non-
residential.  If during the inspection process a deficiency is found, the City will notify the owner, by 
letter, and will be given a timeframe to remediate the problem.  The City’s Enforcement Response 
Plan (ERP) will be used during this process to assist the violators in reaching and maintaining 
compliance, while providing escalating enforcement responses to address repeat and/or continuing 
violations.     

Maintenance plans will vary depending on the type of structure and practice.  Table 4.3 provides an 
on overview of green infrastructure strategies and the general types of associated maintenance 
activities and maintenance frequency.  This table shall be used as guide when determining 
maintenance needs for both public and non-residential private structures. 

4.4 Table 4.3 GI/LID Maintenance Activities 

Strategy  Maintenance Activities  Frequency 

Bioswales 
Check for any water that does not properly drain  After heavy rain 

Check for trash and debris collected around the bioswale  After heavy rain 



7 

Check for and remove any materials that may cause clogging  Spring and fall, or as needed 

Prune or trim vegetation  Annually or as needed during 
the growing season 

Check for bare areas, exposed roots, and cracks in soil  Spring and fall 

Remove and replace any dead and diseased plants  Spring and fall 

Pervious 
Pavements 

Check to ensure the pavement surface is not clogging  As needed 

Remove trash and debris  As needed 

Vacuum sweep to help prevent clogging and ensure water passes 
through the pavement (consult product recommendations) 

As needed if sediment or 
ponding is observed 

Make sure that there is no evidence of deterioration or cracking 
of the concrete 

Monthly during warm 
weather 

Repair or replace any damage to the asphalt  Monthly 

Flush underdrain system and check for signs of cloggins  Annually 

Rain Gardens 

Check and remove litter and plant debris  Spring and fall, or as needed 

Thin crowded vegetation  Spring and fall, or as needed 

Check and correct any erosion in the rain garden  As needed 

Add new mulch if appropriate  Spring 

Remove and replace any dead an diseased plants  Spring and fall 

Mow turf areas, trim vegetation back  As needed during the 
growing season 

Check for and remove unwanted vegetation (e.g., weeds, invasive 
species) 

As needed during the 
growing season 

Water plants  As needed during extended 
hot and/or dry periods 

Green Roofs 

Remove dead, diseased, overgrown, or unwanted vegetation 
(e.g., weeds, invasive species)  Spring and fall 

Check for bare areas and replace vegetation  Spring and fall 

Inspect roof for damage and/or leaking   Spring and fall 

Check for any clogging and repair  As needed 

Cisterns 

Check for visible damage or leaks and repair  As needed 

Check for any debris or obstructions in the gutter, downspout, or 
diverter  Spring and fall, or as needed 

Drain and clean the cistern or rain barrel  Annually before winter 

Store empty rain barrel  Over winter 

Empty barrel if rainfall is predicted  As needed 

Table 2. Green infrastructure strategy maintenance activities, frequency, and equipment needs. Retrieved May 30, 2017, from http:// 
www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/mmsd_tech_assistance.pdf. Copyright April 2015. 



8 

4.5 References 

“Low Impact Development/Green Infrastructure/ Best Management Practices” Retrieved from 
https://nacto.org/docs/usdg/sustainable_stormwater_management_hudson_county.pdf, Accessed 
May 29, 2017. 

“Types of Green Infrastructure” Retrieved from 
http://www.nyc.gov/html/dep/html/stormwater/combined_sewer_overflow_bmps.shtml, Accessed 
May 29, 2017. 

“Elements of a Green Infrastructure Maintenance Business Plan” (2015, April). Retrieved from 
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/mmsd_tech_assistance.pdf, Accessed 
May 29, 2017. 

Atlanta Regional Commission. Georgia Stormwater Management Manual 2016 Edition, 
http://atlantaregional.org/georgia-stormwater-management-manual, Accessed May 30, 2017.  



Appendix A 



Page 1 of 3 

Bioswale Inspection Checklist 

Facility Name: 

Facility Location: 

Inspector:

Date of Inspection: 

Time:

Bioswale 

Maintenance Item 
Condition 

Comment 
Good Marginal Poor N/A* 

General Inspection

Access to the site is adequately 
maintained for inspection and 
maintenance 

Area is clean (trash, debris, grass 
clippings, etc. removed) 

Inlet Structure

Drainage ways (overland flow or pipes) 
to the practice are free of trash, debris, 
large branches, etc. 

Area around the inlet structure is 
mowed and grass clippings are 
removed. 

No evidence of gullies, rills, or 
excessive erosion around the inlet 
structure 

Water is going through structure (i.e. no 
evidence of water going around the 
structure). 

Pretreatment (choose one)

Forebay – area is free of trash, debris, 
and sediment. 

Weir – areas is free of trash, debris, and 
sediment is less than 25% of the total 
depth of the weir. 

Filter Strip or Grass Channels – area is 
free of trash debris and sediment.  Area 
has been mowed and grass clippings 
are removed. No evidence of erosion. 

Rock Lined Plunge Pools – areas is free 
of trash debris and sediment. Rock 
thickness in pool is adequate. 



Page 2 of 3 

Maintenance Item 
Condition 

Comment 
Good Marginal Poor N/A 

Main Treatment

Main treatment area is free of trash, 
debris, and sediment. 

Erosion protection is present on site (i.e. 
turf reinforcement mats). Comment on 
types of erosion protection and evaluate 
condition. 

For dry enhanced swale, no evidence of 
long-term ponding or standing water in 
the ponding area of the practice 
(examples include: stains, odors, 
mosquito larvae, etc.) 

Vegetation within and around practice is 
maintained per landscaping plan. Grass 
clippings are removed 

Structure seems to be working properly. 
No settling around the structure. 
Comment on overall condition of 
structure. 

No evidence of undesirable vegetation. 

No evidence of use of fertilizer on plants 
(fertilizer crusting on the surface of the 
soil, tips of leaves turning brown or 
yellow, blackened roots, etc.). 

Plants seem to be healthy and in good 
condition. Comment on condition of 
plants. 

No evidence of erosion around the 
sides of the check dam. 

Cleanout caps are in place and in good 
condition (for dry enhanced swale). 

The underdrain appears to be 
unclogged evidenced by water exiting 
the practice freely (for dry enhanced 
swale). 

Pea gravel diaphragm or other flow 
spreader is clean and working properly. 

Emergency Overflow

Emergency overflow is free of trash, 
debris, and sediment. 

No evidence of erosion, scour, or 
flooding around the structure. 

Outlet Structure

Outlet structure is free of trash, debris, 
and sediment. 

No evidence of erosion, scour, or 
flooding around the structure. 



Page 3 of 3 

Maintenance Item 
Condition 

Comment 
Good Marginal Poor N/A* 

Results

Overall condition of Bioswale: 

Additional Comments 

Notes: *If a specific maintenance item was not checked, please explain why in the appropriate comment box. 



Page 1 of 2 

Cisterns Inspection Checklist 

Facility Name: 

Facility Location: 

Inspector:

Date of Inspection: 

Time:

Cisterns 

Maintenance Item 
Condition 

Comment 
Good Marginal Poor N/A* 

General Inspection

Access to the site is adequately 
maintained for inspection and 
maintenance 

Area is clean (trash, debris, grass 
clippings, etc. removed) 

Gutters and downspouts are free of 
trash, debris, etc. 

Leaf screens are clean and in good 
condition. 

First flush diverter is working properly 
and in good condition (if applicable). 

Roof washer is working properly and in 
good condition (if applicable). 

Cistern inlet and downspout fits tightly. 

Cistern tank is clean and free of 
sediment. 

Cistern is free of indication of algae 
blooms. 

Plants being watered from the rainwater 
harvesting system seem to be healthy 
and in good condition.  Comment on 
condition of plants. 

No signs of overflow valve leaking 
(stains, dampness). 

Cistern is in good condition structurally, 
no signs of cracking or leaking 

Performance of pump matches pumping 
details (if applicable) 



Page 2 of 2 

Results 

Maintenance Item 
Condition 

Comment 
Good Marginal Poor N/A* 

Overall condition of Cisterns: 

Additional Comments

Notes: *If as specific maintenance item was not checked, please check N/A and explain why in the appropriate 
comment box. 



Page 1 of 2 

Green Roofs Inspection Checklist 

Facility Name: 

Facility Location: 

Inspector:

Date of Inspection: 

Time:

Green Roofs 

Maintenance Item 
Condition 

Comment 
Good Marginal Poor N/A* 

General Inspection

Access to the site is adequately 
maintained for inspection and 
maintenance 

Area is clean (trash, debris, grass 
clippings, etc. removed) 

Inlet and outlet pipes are free of trash, 
debris, etc. 

Inspect waterproof membrane. 

No signs of structural deficiency or 
settling. Comment on overall condition 
of roof. 

Water can flow freely in the drainage 
routes, no obstructions. 

Native Plants were used in the practice 
according to the landscaping plan. 
Plants seem to be in good condition. 
Comment on condition of plants. 

No unwanted vegetation in the practice. 

No evidence of use of fertilizer on plants 
(fertilizer crusting on the surface of the 
soil, tips of leaves turning brown or 
yellow, blackened roots, etc.). 

No evidence of long-term ponding or 
standing water (examples include: 
stains, odors, mosquito larvae, etc). 

Results 

Overall condition of Green Roof: 



Page 2 of 2 

Additional Comments

Notes: *If as specific maintenance item was not checked, please check N/A and explain why in the appropriate 
comment box. 



Page 1 of 2 

Pervious Pavements Inspection Checklist 

Facility Name: 

Facility Location: 

Inspector:

Date of Inspection: 

Time:

Pervious Pavements 

Maintenance Item 
Condition 

Comment 
Good Marginal Poor N/A* 

General Inspection

Access to the site is adequately 
maintained for inspection and 
maintenance 

Area is clean (trash, debris, grass 
clippings, etc. removed) 

Drainage ways (overland flow or pipes) 
to the practice are free of trash, debris, 
large branches, etc. 

Structure seems to be working properly. 
No signs of concrete settling or 
cracking. Comment on overall condition 
of concrete. 

Vegetation around practice is 
maintained. Grass clippings are 
removed. 

No exposed soil near the concrete. 

Cleanout caps are present and not 
missing (if applicable). 

The underdrain system or trench has 
been flushed properly and there is no 
sign of clogging. 

No evidence of erosion around the 
sides of the check dam. 

Cleanout caps are in place and in good 
condition (for dry enhanced swale). 

Results

Overall condition of Pervious 
Pavements: 



Page 2 of 2 

Additional Comments 

Notes: *If a specific maintenance item was not checked, please explain why in the appropriate comment box. 



Page 1 of 3 

Raingarden Inspection Checklist 

Facility Name: 

Facility Location: 

Inspector:

Date of Inspection: 

Time:

Raingarden

Maintenance Item 
Condition 

Comment 
Good Marginal Poor N/A* 

General Inspection

Access to the site is adequately 
maintained for inspection and 
maintenance 

Area is clean (trash, debris, grass 
clippings, etc. removed) 

Inlet Structure

Drainage ways (overland flow or pipes) 
to the practice are free of trash, debris, 
large branches, etc. 

Area around the inlet structure is 
mowed and grass clippings are 
removed. 

No evidence of gullies, rills, or 
excessive erosion around the inlet 
structure 

Water is going through structure (i.e. no 
evidence of water going around the 
structure). 

Pretreatment (choose one)

Forebay – area is free of trash, debris, 
and sediment. 

Weir – areas is free of trash, debris, and 
sediment is less than 25% of the total 
depth of the weir. 

Filter Strip or Grass Channels – area is 
free of trash debris and sediment.  Area 
has been mowed and grass clippings 
are removed. No evidence of erosion. 

Rock Lined Plunge Pools – areas is free 
of trash debris and sediment. Rock 
thickness in pool is adequate. 



Page 2 of 3 

Maintenance Item 
Condition 

Comment 
Good Marginal Poor N/A 

Main Treatment

Main treatment area is free of trash, 
debris, and sediment. 

Erosion protection is present on site (i.e. 
turf reinforcement mats). Comment on 
types of erosion protection and evaluate 
condition. 

No evidence of long-term ponding or 
standing water in the ponding area of 
the practice (examples include: stains, 
odors, mosquito larvae, etc). 

Structure seems to be working properly. 
No settling around the structure. 
Comment on overall condition of 
structure. 

Vegetation within and around practice is 
maintained per landscaping plan. Grass 
clippings are removed. 

Mulching depth of 3-4 inches is 
maintained. Comment on mulch depth. 

Native plants were used in the practice 
according to the planting plan. 

No evidence of use of fertilizer on plants 
(fertilizer crusting on the surface of the 
soil, tips of leaves turning brown or 
yellow, blackened roots, etc.). 

Plants seem to be healthy and in good 
condition.  Comment on condition of 
plants. 

Emergency Overflow

Emergency overflow is free of trash, 
debris, and sediment. 

No evidence of erosion, scour, or 
flooding around the structure. 

Outlet Structure

Outlet structure is free of trash, debris, 
and sediment. 

No evidence of erosion, scour, or 
flooding around the structure. 

Results

Overall condition of Raingarden: 



Page 3 of 3 

Additional Comments

Notes: *If a specific maintenance item was not checked, please explain why in the appropriate comment box. 



Appendix B 



GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE/LOW IMPACT DEVELOPMENT (GI/LID) EVALUATION 

FACILITY NAME: ANALYSIS BY: 

FACILITY LOCATION: FACILITY TYPE: 

DATE OF ANALYSIS: 

Start 

 

 

N 
 

N N Y

Y

Y

Y

N

N

Y

Install BMPs per Plan. 
Enjoy Cleaner Water 

Can the soil be 
tilled or excavated 
if more favorable 

conditions are 
identified deeper 

within the soil 
profile? 

The use of GI/LID is not 
appropriate due to poor soil 

conditions.  

Are the soils suitable for 
the growth of plants and 
infiltration of stormwater. 

Can the project 
area be expanded 

with additional 
land or easements 
to accommodate 
GI/LID practices? 

The use of GI/LID is not 
appropriate due to size of 

property. 
Is there enough project 
area to accommodate 

GI/LID practices? 

Can money be 
added to the 

project budget 
to include 

GI/LID 
practices? 

Will the addition of 
GI/LID practices 

increase total 
project by 20%? 

The use of GI/LID is not 
possible due to the 

lack of funding. 

N

N

NList GI/LID Practices:  

_________________________
_________________________
_________________________ 

Evaluate alternative 
funding option. 
(Grants, loans, 

community  
involvement, ..)

Have GI/LID practices 
been incorporated into 

the project? 

Y

Re-consider the use of GI/LID 
practices as part of the approach to 

managing stormwater runoff. 

YY
List GI/LID Practices:  

_________________________
_________________________
_________________________ 

List Quality Issues: 

___________
___________
___________

List Property Issues: 

___________
___________
___________

List Funding:  

___________
___________
___________



CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 

MEETING DATE: January 29, 2019 

SUBJECT: 2018 International Property Maintenance Code 

PURPOSE: The International Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) establishes minimum 
requirements for the maintenance of existing buildings through model code regulations that 
contain clear and specific property maintenance and property improvement provisions. The 
code is intended to establish provisions that adequately protect public health, safety 
and welfare.  A new edition of the code is circulated every 3 years. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Adopt the 2018 International Property Maintenance Code 

ITEM NO: E5 

ACTION TYPE: 
Ordinance 

HEARING TYPE:  
 Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy, Planning and Dev. Director 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   

https://allentownboronj.com/vertical/sites/%7B7748EEEB-2391-4653-8B6A-4A64C85A6D79%7D/
uploads/2018_International_Building_Code.pdf

Link to a Copy of the  2018 IPMC





































































































































CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY WORK SESSION 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 29, 2019 
 
SUBJECT:  Discuss Membership to National League of Cities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:    
To consider a Membership to National League of Cities  
 
NEED/ IMPACT:  
The City of Clarkston desires to discuss the possible benefits of becoming a Member of the National League of Cities. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
No staff recommendation.  
 

ITEM NO: E6 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  Awet Eyasu 

PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   


	Summary   PUD Request NAMB.pdf
	NEED/ IMPACT:  The applicants have s submitted an application and development plans to be reviewed as a mixed use planned unit development (PUD). Currently three (3) parcels are zoned NR-1 Low Density Neighborhood Residential and six (6) parcels are z...
	A mixed use development incorporates a minimum of forty thousand (40,000) square feet on multiple parcels which has design and development features that would not be possible by the application of lot by lot zoning districts regulations.  A PUD is a p...

	PUD Analysis  9 Parcels NAMB CIBC MG Associates.pdf
	Applicant: Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention Inc. w/Clarkston International Bible Church
	Zoning Overview: Myrick Gurosky and Associates for North American Mission Board of the Southern Baptist Convention Inc., with Clarkston International Bible Church has submitted an application and development plans to be reviewed as a mixed use planned...
	NC-1.
	A Planned unit developments (PUD) a provision that allows more flexibility to development projects that incorporate two (2) or more buildings on a tract or over several tracts of land than would otherwise be allowed by the underlying zoning district r...
	Based on the submission of the information and documents from the applicants with multifamily housing, and a multipurpose building that will be occupied with retail, offices and restaurants the development will be a mixed use development.  A mixed use...

	SUMMARY  STORMWATER ORDINANCES .pdf
	SUBJECT:  Adopt Required Stormwater Ordinances and Regulations: Georgia Erosion & Sedimentation Act, Enforcement Response Plan and   Green Infrastructure / Low Impact Development Program.

	GESA Model_Ordinance - Final for Council Agenda - 2017-2018 City EPD Audit.pdf
	City of Clarkston Soil Erosion, Sedimentation And Pollution Control Ordinance

	Clarkston - Enforcement Response Plan - City Council - MS4 Permit.pdf
	Attachment A - Enforcement Response Plan - EPA attachment.pdf
	Clarkston Enforcement Response Plan - NPDES MS4 Permit.pdf
	Clarkston ERP
	Introduction
	Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers
	Purpose [Sec. 22-90(a)]
	Responsibility for administration [Sec. 22-90.(e)]
	Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-96]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Soil Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution Control
	Purpose [Sec. 21-4(a)]
	Inspection and enforcement [Sec. 21-6]
	Penalties and incentives [Sec. 21-7]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Postdevelopment Stormwater Management for New Development and Redevelopment
	Purpose [Sec. 22-1]
	Designation of article administrator [Sec. 22-3]
	Stormwater design manual [Sec. 22-5]
	Failure to maintain [Sec. 22-20]
	Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-21]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Solid Waste Disposal / Offenses Against Public Health
	Purpose
	Applicability [Sec. 19-51]
	Disposal of refuse and garbage generally [Sec. 19-53]
	Waste and disposal thereof [Sec. 12-52]
	General penalty; continuing violations [Sec. 1-7]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Highly Visible Pollutant Sources (HVPS)
	Purpose
	Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Industrial Facility Storm Water Discharge Control
	Purpose
	Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Conclusion


	TSS Results  - Clarkston - SW MS4 2017-2018.pdf
	Dec 2017

	Clarkston - IWP Co-Permittee Stations  Fecal Monitoring Plan 2017-2018  (Clarkston).pdf
	SF Ptree crk (Casa Dr)

	Blank Page
	Clarkston Impaired Waters Plan (1) - MS4 2017-2018 - ISE.pdf
	SouthForkPtreeCreekImpairedWatersPlan 2019_0114
	1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	Contact

	2. STREAM IMPAIRMENT
	3. WATER QUALITY SAMPLING & MONITORING
	4. BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES
	Erosion & Sediment Control Program
	Dry Weather Screening of the South Fork Peachtree Creek MS4 Outfalls
	Sanitary Sewer Overflow Reporting
	Implementation Schedule

	5. EVALUATION AND REPORTING
	Evaluation of Monitoring Data
	Annual Reporting


	Appendix A DeKalb_Impaired_Waterbodies_Monitoring_and_Implementation_Plan
	Appendix B Clarkston_DeKalb_IGA

	Clarkston Impaired Waters Plan - corrected - MS4 2017-2018 Audit.pdf
	190115 Clarkston Impaired Waters Plan
	SouthForkPtreeCreekImpairedWatersPlan 2019_0115
	1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	Contact

	2. STREAM IMPAIRMENT
	3. WATER QUALITY SAMPLING & MONITORING
	4. BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES
	Erosion & Sediment Control Program
	Dry Weather Screening of the South Fork Peachtree Creek MS4 Outfalls
	Sanitary Sewer Overflow Reporting
	Implementation Schedule

	5. EVALUATION AND REPORTING
	Evaluation of Monitoring Data
	Annual Reporting

	Appendix A DeKalb_Impaired_Waterbodies_Monitoring_and_Implementation_Plan
	Appendix B Clarkston-DeKalb IGA





	Greeen Infrastructure Regulations - Clarkston - FOR SHAWANNA Q..pdf
	Clarkston Enforcement Response Plan - NPDES MS4 Permit.pdf
	Clarkston ERP
	Introduction
	Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers
	Purpose [Sec. 22-90(a)]
	Responsibility for administration [Sec. 22-90.(e)]
	Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-96]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Soil Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution Control
	Purpose [Sec. 21-4(a)]
	Inspection and enforcement [Sec. 21-6]
	Penalties and incentives [Sec. 21-7]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Postdevelopment Stormwater Management for New Development and Redevelopment
	Purpose [Sec. 22-1]
	Designation of article administrator [Sec. 22-3]
	Stormwater design manual [Sec. 22-5]
	Failure to maintain [Sec. 22-20]
	Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-21]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Solid Waste Disposal / Offenses Against Public Health
	Purpose
	Applicability [Sec. 19-51]
	Disposal of refuse and garbage generally [Sec. 19-53]
	Waste and disposal thereof [Sec. 12-52]
	General penalty; continuing violations [Sec. 1-7]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Highly Visible Pollutant Sources (HVPS)
	Purpose
	Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Industrial Facility Storm Water Discharge Control
	Purpose
	Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Conclusion


	TSS Results  - Clarkston - SW MS4 2017-2018.pdf
	Dec 2017

	Clarkston - IWP Co-Permittee Stations  Fecal Monitoring Plan 2017-2018  (Clarkston).pdf
	SF Ptree crk (Casa Dr)

	Blank Page
	Clarkston Impaired Waters Plan (1) - MS4 2017-2018 - ISE.pdf
	SouthForkPtreeCreekImpairedWatersPlan 2019_0114
	1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	Contact

	2. STREAM IMPAIRMENT
	3. WATER QUALITY SAMPLING & MONITORING
	4. BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES
	Erosion & Sediment Control Program
	Dry Weather Screening of the South Fork Peachtree Creek MS4 Outfalls
	Sanitary Sewer Overflow Reporting
	Implementation Schedule

	5. EVALUATION AND REPORTING
	Evaluation of Monitoring Data
	Annual Reporting


	Appendix A DeKalb_Impaired_Waterbodies_Monitoring_and_Implementation_Plan
	Appendix B Clarkston_DeKalb_IGA

	Clarkston Impaired Waters Plan - corrected - MS4 2017-2018 Audit.pdf
	190115 Clarkston Impaired Waters Plan
	SouthForkPtreeCreekImpairedWatersPlan 2019_0115
	1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	Contact

	2. STREAM IMPAIRMENT
	3. WATER QUALITY SAMPLING & MONITORING
	4. BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES
	Erosion & Sediment Control Program
	Dry Weather Screening of the South Fork Peachtree Creek MS4 Outfalls
	Sanitary Sewer Overflow Reporting
	Implementation Schedule

	5. EVALUATION AND REPORTING
	Evaluation of Monitoring Data
	Annual Reporting

	Appendix A DeKalb_Impaired_Waterbodies_Monitoring_and_Implementation_Plan
	Appendix B Clarkston-DeKalb IGA




	Clarkston - EPD Audit Letter - signed 2017-2018 - corrected with revised pages inserted  - Shawanna Q..pdf
	EPD - combined Attachment File - EPD Letter to Perrett.pdf
	Clarkston Enforcement Response Plan - NPDES MS4 Permit.pdf
	Clarkston ERP
	Introduction
	Illicit Discharges and Illegal Connections to Storm Sewers
	Purpose [Sec. 22-90(a)]
	Responsibility for administration [Sec. 22-90.(e)]
	Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-96]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Soil Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution Control
	Purpose [Sec. 21-4(a)]
	Inspection and enforcement [Sec. 21-6]
	Penalties and incentives [Sec. 21-7]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Postdevelopment Stormwater Management for New Development and Redevelopment
	Purpose [Sec. 22-1]
	Designation of article administrator [Sec. 22-3]
	Stormwater design manual [Sec. 22-5]
	Failure to maintain [Sec. 22-20]
	Violations, enforcement and penalties [Sec. 22-21]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Solid Waste Disposal / Offenses Against Public Health
	Purpose
	Applicability [Sec. 19-51]
	Disposal of refuse and garbage generally [Sec. 19-53]
	Waste and disposal thereof [Sec. 12-52]
	General penalty; continuing violations [Sec. 1-7]
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Highly Visible Pollutant Sources (HVPS)
	Purpose
	Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Industrial Facility Storm Water Discharge Control
	Purpose
	Violations, enforcement mechanisms, appropriate responses and time frames
	Tracking
	Summary of enforcement measures

	Conclusion


	TSS Results  - Clarkston - SW MS4 2017-2018.pdf
	Dec 2017

	Clarkston - IWP Co-Permittee Stations  Fecal Monitoring Plan 2017-2018  (Clarkston).pdf
	SF Ptree crk (Casa Dr)

	Blank Page
	Clarkston Impaired Waters Plan (1) - MS4 2017-2018 - ISE.pdf
	SouthForkPtreeCreekImpairedWatersPlan 2019_0114
	1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	Contact

	2. STREAM IMPAIRMENT
	3. WATER QUALITY SAMPLING & MONITORING
	4. BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES
	Erosion & Sediment Control Program
	Dry Weather Screening of the South Fork Peachtree Creek MS4 Outfalls
	Sanitary Sewer Overflow Reporting
	Implementation Schedule

	5. EVALUATION AND REPORTING
	Evaluation of Monitoring Data
	Annual Reporting


	Appendix A DeKalb_Impaired_Waterbodies_Monitoring_and_Implementation_Plan
	Appendix B Clarkston_DeKalb_IGA

	Clarkston Impaired Waters Plan - corrected - MS4 2017-2018 Audit.pdf
	190115 Clarkston Impaired Waters Plan
	SouthForkPtreeCreekImpairedWatersPlan 2019_0115
	1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	Contact

	2. STREAM IMPAIRMENT
	3. WATER QUALITY SAMPLING & MONITORING
	4. BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES
	Erosion & Sediment Control Program
	Dry Weather Screening of the South Fork Peachtree Creek MS4 Outfalls
	Sanitary Sewer Overflow Reporting
	Implementation Schedule

	5. EVALUATION AND REPORTING
	Evaluation of Monitoring Data
	Annual Reporting

	Appendix A DeKalb_Impaired_Waterbodies_Monitoring_and_Implementation_Plan
	Appendix B Clarkston-DeKalb IGA








